
Common Council

City of Appleton

Meeting Agenda - Final

100 North Appleton Street 

Appleton, WI  54911-4799

www.appleton.org

Council Chambers7:00 PMWednesday, June 7, 2023

A. CALL TO ORDER

B. INVOCATION

C. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE FLAG

D. ROLL CALL OF ALDERPERSONS

E. ROLL CALL OF OFFICERS AND DEPARTMENT HEADS

F. APPROVAL OF PREVIOUS COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES

23-0605 Common Council Meeting Minutes of May 17, 2023

 

CC Minutes 5-17-23.pdfAttachments:

G. BUSINESS PRESENTED BY THE MAYOR

23-0622 Introduction of Andy Anaam, Communications & Public Engagement 

Manager 

 

23-0623 Proclamations:

  - Pride Month

  - CPR AED Awareness

  - Juneteenth Celebrations

  - Gun Violence Awareness Day

  - Refugee Day

Pride Month Proclamation.pdf

CPR AED Awareness Week Proclamation.pdf

Juneteenth Celebration Day Proclamation.pdf

Gun Violence Awareness Day Proclamation.pdf

Refugee Day Proclamation.pdf

Attachments:

H. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

Page 1 City of Appleton Printed on 6/2/2023

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22781
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=36f1d150-79ec-41f5-80f4-52bd617a4d26.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22798
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22799
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=bf3e3ee3-1e4f-4c27-a168-6b8c019f571e.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=b14ad2ee-e277-4a83-8805-03d8b17a4be5.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=cebc3b23-0280-484b-8418-868ec166c9e5.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=3b942f29-2ebe-4491-985c-05d37d2dd328.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=cd93a92c-c244-4889-8147-c3307539659b.pdf


June 7, 2023Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final

I. PUBLIC HEARINGS

J. SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS

K. ESTABLISH ORDER OF THE DAY

L. COMMITTEE REPORTS

1. MINUTES OF THE MUNICIPAL SERVICES COMMITTEE

23-0586 Approve the three-party engineering design services contract between the 

City of Appleton, Wisconsin DOT and Ayres Associates Inc. for the design 

of Lawe Street (College Avenue to Wisconsin Ave).  Compensation for 

authorized services for this contract shall not exceed $439,934.38 with the 

WisDOT responsible for $339,441 and the City responsible for 

$100,493.38.  Funding cap determined by the previously approved 

State/Municipal Agreement for a State-LET Urbanized Area STP-Urban 

Program Project.  

Three Party Design Engineering Services Contract_COA_WisDOT_Ayres_49842474-1400045926-2.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

5/22/23 Municipal Services 

Committee

recommended for approval

23-0587 Approve the Local Highway Bridge Inspection Agreement between 

Outagamie County and City of Appleton to delineate local bridges that are 

the responsibility of the City to inspection in order to comply with the 

National Bridge Inspection Standards, Code of Federal Regulations Title 

23, Part 650, Subpart C. 

Local Bridge Inspection Agreement - City of Appleton.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

5/22/23 Municipal Services 

Committee

recommended for approval

23-0588 Request from JoAnn Fidika at 1619 E. Pauline Street for a Terrace 

Occupancy Permit to keep an existing 3’ fence in the street terrace along 

N. Wilmer Avenue.  

 

2023.05.16_1619 Pauline Terrace Occupancy Permit.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

5/22/23 Municipal Services 

Committee

recommended for approval

Page 2 City of Appleton Printed on 6/2/2023

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22762
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=6a788102-43df-40a7-a05f-148c735a0634.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22763
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=cccf8552-4a4b-4c1b-bb99-10472a1a63cb.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22764
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=b060fdd6-e52c-46b1-a0fa-84e497e75950.pdf


June 7, 2023Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final

23-0589 Request from Mud & Prints for a Street Occupancy Permit to place 

overhead Edison lights above the sidewalk and beautification strip at 311 

E. College Avenue.

 

2023.05.17_MudandPrints_Permit to Occupy.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

5/22/23 Municipal Services 

Committee

recommended for approval

23-0590 Request from Appleton Downtown Inc. for a street occupancy permit to 

host a Sidewalk Sale every third Friday from June to August 2023 (June 

16, July 21, August 18, 2023) on the College Avenue beautification strip 

from 900 W. College Avenue to 300 E. College Avenue.  

 

ADI Ltr to City re Permit to Occupy Downtown Creates Sidewalk Sale 5.18.23.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

5/22/23 Municipal Services 

Committee

recommended for approval

23-0592 Request from Appleton Downtown Inc. for a street occupancy permit to 

host a Sidewalk Sale on Friday, August 4, Saturday August 5 and Sunday 

August 6, 2023 from 10:00 am to 6:00 pm (during Mile of Music) on the 

College Avenue beautification strip from 900 W. College Avenue to 300 E. 

College Avenue.  

 

ADI Ltr to City re Permit to Occupy MOM Sidewalk Sales 5.18.23.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

5/22/23 Municipal Services 

Committee

recommended for approval

23-0593 Request from KJL Properties for a permanent street occupancy permit to 

allow trucks and trailers to occupy the western end of W. Reeve Street 

during loading and unloading for 1843 W. Reeve Street. 

 

2023.05.18_1843 W Reeve Street Permanent Street Occupancy Permit.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

5/22/23 Municipal Services 

Committee

recommended for approval

2. MINUTES OF THE SAFETY AND LICENSING COMMITTEE

Page 3 City of Appleton Printed on 6/2/2023

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22765
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=30de740c-cc84-4ae0-8773-68db69fb0254.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22766
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=e3be45e3-bd40-479f-937b-fa5d12042053.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22768
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=8d92c69c-9400-4f4b-be1e-c780c426d99c.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22769
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=c50f2d3f-8315-4b6e-86ef-2abd6c11187e.pdf


June 7, 2023Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final

23-0596 Special Event Application Denial Appeals - Smoshfest

Smosh Fest Denial Recommendation Letter 05.18.23.pdf

Smosh Fest Application.pdf

Attachments:

Legislative History 

5/24/23 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for denial

William Shalom Dorman, 620 W. Prospect Ave addressed the Committee.

23-0519 Class "B" Beer and "Class B" Liquor License Change of Agent application 

for RH Events LLC d/b/a Poplar Hall, Nicole Burleson, New Agent, located 

at 141 S Riverheath Way.

Nicole Burleson S&L.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

5/24/23 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

23-0522 Pet Store License Renewal application for Fish Cave LLC, Ton Vang, 

Applicant, located at 2110 S Memorial Dr, contingent upon approval from 

the Inspections department.

Fish Cave S&L.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

5/24/23 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

23-0541 Pet Store License Renewal application for HSA Corporation d/b/a Pet 

Supplies Plus, Angela DeHaan, Applicant, located at 702 W Northland 

Ave, contingent upon approval from the Inspections department.

Pet Supplies Plus S&L.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

5/24/23 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

23-0548 Pet Store License Renewal application for Just Pets, Craig Weborg, 

Applicant, located at 2009 N Richmond St, contingent upon approval from 

the Fire and Inspections departments.

Just Pets S&L.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

5/24/23 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

Page 4 City of Appleton Printed on 6/2/2023

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22772
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=3e2e14b7-cdf0-4fa5-af43-4039483d203e.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=ce27f892-7802-4f2b-87ce-543f27306a1f.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22695
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=3869f33f-b1ef-47e7-aab2-02ae857a6545.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22698
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=9f068f53-3df2-4d38-be86-a7c39bf5367d.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22717
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=bc88bacf-3249-4b27-a67e-2721f4921e7f.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22724
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=c0461cb4-6177-477c-aaa7-8a4f24d88adf.pdf


June 7, 2023Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final

23-0549 Class "B" Beer and "Class B" Liquor Temporary Premise Amendment 

application for S C Carrow Corp d/b/a Rookies Sports Bar & Grill, Steven 

Carrow, Agent, located at 325 N. Appleton St, on August 3-5, 2023, for 

Mile of Music, contingent upon approval from the Community Development, 

Health and Inspections departments.

Rookies Sports Bar S&L.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

5/24/23 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

23-0565 Additional 2023-2024 Alcohol License Renewal applications, contingent 

upon approval from all departments by 12:00 p.m. on June 30, 2023.

2023-24 Alcohol License Renewals-2nd set.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

5/24/23 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

23-0598 Additional 2023-2024 Cigarette and Tobacco Products License Renewals

2023-2024 Additional Cigarette Renewals.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

5/24/23 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

23-0606 2023-2024 Mechanical Amusement Device License renewals, contingent 

upon approval from all departments by 12:00 p.m. on June 30, 2023.

Amusement Device renewals 2023-24.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

5/24/23 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

3. MINUTES OF THE CITY PLAN COMMISSION

23-0552 Request to approve Special Use Permit #4-23 for an indoor commercial 

entertainment use (axe throwing) with alcohol sales and consumption 

located at 2701 North Oneida Street (Tax Id #31-6-7651-00), as shown on 

the attached maps and per attached plan of operation, to run with the land 

subject to the conditions in the attached staff report and approve attached 

Resolution (2/3 vote of Common Council required for approval)

StaffReport_2701NOneidaSt_SUP_For5-24-23.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

5/24/23 City Plan Commission recommended for approval

Page 5 City of Appleton Printed on 6/2/2023

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22725
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=b2f07dff-8ccc-4350-8c44-6ceed0879b9d.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22741
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=3916f713-48ab-453b-852c-1f1d37f7cb58.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22774
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=8df7db5d-b81b-45c6-8b8d-5136562a79c5.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22782
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=e126ea19-9d99-4944-996e-af3d86e8d750.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22728
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=f6f69ad4-58d9-4da1-8473-34242c5d7baa.pdf


June 7, 2023Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final

23-0554 Request to approve Special Use Permit #5-23 for a bar and grill with 

alcohol sales and consumption use located at 2811 East Newberry Street 

(Tax Id #31-4-5747-00), as shown on the attached maps and per attached 

plan of operation, to run with the land subject to the conditions in the 

attached staff report and approve attached Resolution (2/3 vote of 

Common Council required for approval)

StaffReport_2811ENewberrySt_SUP_For5-24-23.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

5/24/23 City Plan Commission recommended for approval

23-0557 Request to approve The Villas at Meade Pond Final Plat as shown on the 

attached maps and subject to the conditions in the attached staff report

StaffReport_VillasatMeadePond_FinalPlat_For5-24-23.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

5/24/23 City Plan Commission recommended for approval

4. MINUTES OF THE PARKS AND RECREATION COMMITTEE

5. MINUTES OF THE FINANCE COMMITTEE

23-0563 Request to approve the following 2023 Budget Amendment:

Hazardous Materials Fund

             Vehicles                                  + $22,040

             Fund Balance Applied            + $22,040

            Central Equipment Agency Fund

            Sale of City Property               + $22,040

            Trans Out - Capital Projects    + $22,040

to record Hazardous Materials Fund purchase of vehicle from CEA (2/3 vote of 

Council required)

2023 HazMat Vehicle.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

5/22/23 Finance Committee recommended for approval

23-0567 Request to award the City of Appleton’s 2023 Masonry Repairs Project contract 

to Masonry Restoration, Inc. in the amount of $162,675 with a contingency of 

$15,000 for a project total not to exceed $177,675.  

2023 AWWTP Masonry Repairs Project.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

5/22/23 Finance Committee recommended for approval

Page 6 City of Appleton Printed on 6/2/2023

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22730
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=166b258d-1ffc-4476-ac8b-0e1b203a5e38.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22733
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=720e83d0-7113-49a5-ad35-85ba3018e362.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22739
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=bfa72015-73df-4647-a0be-ef2466f865ea.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22743
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=2ad67636-588f-4f18-802d-9cc32aa36c4a.pdf


June 7, 2023Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final

23-0603 Request to approve cash advance from Stormwater Utility Fund to Wastewater 

Utility Fund in an amount not to exceed $3,000,000 to replace issuance of long 

term revenue bonds in 2023.

2023 Short Term Funding.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

5/22/23 Finance Committee recommended for approval

6. MINUTES OF THE COMMUNITY AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

23-0561 Request to approve the Development Agreement with Fox Commons 

Properties, LLC for improvements and redevelopment of the property 

located at 10 E. College Avenue (Tax Id #31-2-0290-01) in Tax Increment 

Financing District No. 11

FoxCommons_MemoToCEDC_05242023_Final.pdf

0747 - FOX COMMONS DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT - 05-23-2023 - edit shown.pdf

Attachments:

Legislative History 

5/24/23 Community & Economic 

Development Committee

recommended for approval

7. MINUTES OF THE UTILITIES COMMITTEE

8. MINUTES OF THE HUMAN RESOURCES & INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 

COMMITTEE

23-0569 Request to Approve changes to address wage compression for Police 

Lieutenant and Captains using their hourly base rate vs. top Senior 

Sergeant rate and to add compensation for transports, time in court, and 

criminal guard duty. 

 

Salary Administration Policy 2023 SB.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

5/24/23 Human Resources & 

Information Technology 

Committee

recommended for approval

9. MINUTES OF THE FOX CITIES TRANSIT COMMISSION

10. MINUTES OF THE BOARD OF HEALTH

M. CONSOLIDATED ACTION ITEMS

N. ITEMS HELD

Page 7 City of Appleton Printed on 6/2/2023

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22779
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=274f5339-0fbc-45f3-8bc0-e47567766794.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22737
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=77c26cee-86af-4461-8dcc-4ab4418241ad.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=793b40fc-b810-4fec-95e3-05becb5290d2.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22745
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=3d3ec0f8-31aa-4df6-9ce2-0508e37b676a.pdf


June 7, 2023Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final

O. ORDINANCES

P. LICENSE APPLICATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS REFERRED TO 

COMMITTEES OF JURISDICTION

Q. RESOLUTIONS SUBMITTED BY ALDERPERSONS REFERRED TO COMMITTEES 

OF JURISDICTION

R. OTHER COUNCIL BUSINESS

S. ADJOURN

Kami Lynch, City Clerk

Reasonable accommodations for persons with disabilities will be made upon request and 

if feasible.  

Remote meeting attendance may be permitted pursuant to Section 2-29 of the Appleton 

Municipal Code and Rules of Council.

*We are currently experiencing intermittent issues/outages with our audio/video 

equipment.  Meeting live streams and recordings are operational but unreliable at times .  

This is due to delays in receiving necessary system hardware components.  We continue 

to look for solutions in the interim and we hope to have these issues resolved soon.

Page 8 City of Appleton Printed on 6/2/2023



100 North Appleton Street 

Appleton, WI  54911-4799

www.appleton.org

City of Appleton

Meeting Minutes - Final

Common Council

7:00 PM Council ChambersWednesday, May 17, 2023

CALL TO ORDERA.

The meeting was called to order by Mayor Woodford at 7:02 p.m.

INVOCATIONB.

The Invocation was offered by Alderperson Hartzheim.

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE FLAGC.

ROLL CALL OF ALDERPERSONSD.

Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Patrick Hayden, Alderperson Joss 

Thyssen, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson 

Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, 

Alderperson Christopher Croatt, Alderperson Chad Doran and Mayor Jake 

Woodford

Present: 16 - 

ROLL CALL OF OFFICERS AND DEPARTMENT HEADSE.

All Departments were represented.

APPROVAL OF PREVIOUS COUNCIL MEETING MINUTESF.

23-0542 Common Council Minutes of May 3, 2023

 

CC Minutes 5-3-23.pdfAttachments:

Alderperson Meltzer moved, seconded by Alderperson Van Zeeland, that the 

Minutes be approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Patrick Hayden, Alderperson Joss 

Thyssen, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson 

Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, 

Alderperson Christopher Croatt and Alderperson Chad Doran

15 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

Page 1City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22718
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=cbe028f6-2ff0-41a4-9514-ff5878ddfd08.pdf


May 17, 2023Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

BUSINESS PRESENTED BY THE MAYORG.

23-0543 Proclamations:

  - Day of Hope Proclamation

  - Jewish American Heritage Month

  - Safe Boating Week

 

Day of Hope Proclamation.pdf

Jewish American Heritage Month Proclamation.pdf

Safe Boating Week Proclamation.pdf

Attachments:

23-0544 Reappointment & New Appointment to the Fox Cities Area Room Tax 

Commission

 

May 17 2023 Room Tax Appt Memo.pdfAttachments:

Alderperson Hartzheim moved, seconded by Alderperson Meltzer, that the 

Appointments be approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Patrick Hayden, Alderperson Joss 

Thyssen, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson 

Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, 

Alderperson Christopher Croatt and Alderperson Chad Doran

15 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

PUBLIC PARTICIPATIONH.

No members of the public spoke during public participation.

PUBLIC HEARINGSI.

23-0469 Public Hearing for Rezoning #1-23 for Seville Properties, LLC from 

Temporary AG Agricultural to R-3 Multifamily District

 

RZ #1-23 Notice of Public Hearing.pdfAttachments:

Jeffrey Walters, 6850 Grinnell Ct spoke during the hearing.

Page 2City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22719
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=88a03cc7-0458-48e4-ae00-c058e9beaba0.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=8c223bf3-9e28-413d-a41e-e06e40039643.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=ca899b65-1b45-4c43-8cb1-6e96f803220b.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22720
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=4cea639f-3aae-489c-b720-c947cf2e297f.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22645
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=6e4203fb-46d4-4e13-9bca-8b8a524a2ecc.pdf


May 17, 2023Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONSJ.

ESTABLISH ORDER OF THE DAYK.

23-0393 Request to approve Rezoning #1-23 to rezone the Seville Properties 

Ballard & Werner Road Annexation, formerly in the Town of Center, 

consisting of approximately 39.913 acres located at 7051 N. Ballard 

Road (Tax Id #31-1-9316-00) [formerly N2751 County Road EE (Parcel 

#040098200)], including to the centerline of existing adjacent 

right-of-way, as shown on the attached maps, from Temporary AG 

Agricultural District to R-3 Multi-family District

StaffReport_SevillePropBallard-WernerRdAnnex_Rezoning_For4-26-23

.pdf

Attachments:

Alderperson Meltzer moved, seconded by Alderperson Firkus, that the 

Rezoning be approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Patrick Hayden, Alderperson Joss 

Thyssen, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson 

Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, 

Alderperson Christopher Croatt and Alderperson Chad Doran

15 - 

Excused: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

23-0482 Request to approve Special Use Permit #3-23 for a car wash use 

located at 4029 East Calumet Street (Tax Id #31-9-5812-00), as shown 

on the attached maps and per attached plan of operation, to run with the 

land subject to the conditions in the attached staff report and approve 

attached Resolution (2/3 vote of Common Council required for approval)

StaffReport_Deep Blue Car Wash_SUP_For5-10-23.pdfAttachments:

Alderperson Hartzheim moved, seconded by Alderperson Schultz, that the 

Special Use Permit be approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following 

vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Brad Firkus, Alderperson Israel 

Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, Alderperson Denise Fenton, 

Alderperson Patrick Hayden, Alderperson Joss Thyssen, Alderperson Alex 

Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson 

Sheri Hartzheim, Alderperson Christopher Croatt and Alderperson Chad 

Doran

13 - 

Nay: Alderperson Vered Meltzer and Alderperson Nate Wolff2 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

Page 3City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22569
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=af197925-eb0d-4c02-b0dc-5ba946bfe58c.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22658
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=eb91a62a-7b8f-41d6-84aa-15e8f01b7ba1.pdf


May 17, 2023Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

23-0507 Request from Rachel Coloma, 3320 N Lawe Street, to have her sidewalk 

snow removal assessment of $75 waived.

 

Rachel Coloma - 3320 N Lawe Street Sidewalk Snow Removal 

Assessment.pdf

Attachments:

Alderperson Schultz moved, seconded by Alderperson Firkus, that the 

recommendation to deny the waiver of the snow removal assessment be 

approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Brad Firkus, Alderperson Katie 

Van Zeeland, Alderperson Patrick Hayden, Alderperson Joss Thyssen, 

Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate 

Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, Alderperson Christopher Croatt and 

Alderperson Chad Doran

11 - 

Nay: Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson 

Denise Fenton and Alderperson Alex Schultz

4 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

23-0412 Anticipated Award of Unit CC-23 College Ave Lane Reconfiguration 

Pavement Marking Contract.  Held from April 24, 2023 meeting.  

Memo to be distributed at meeting.

 

Unit CC-23 Memo.pdfAttachments:

Alderperson Hartzheim moved, seconded by Alderperson Meltzer, that the 

Contract be approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Patrick Hayden, Alderperson Joss 

Thyssen, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson 

Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim and 

Alderperson Chad Doran

14 - 

Nay: Alderperson Christopher Croatt1 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

COMMITTEE REPORTSL.

Balance of the action items on the agenda.

Alderperson Hartzheim moved, Alderperson Fenton seconded, to approve the 

balance of the agenda.  The motion carried by the following vote:

Page 4City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22683
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=15216e82-90a6-4811-af9d-fe7544093eb3.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22588
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=d65aaa91-942b-45df-b426-23911938a3ec.pdf


May 17, 2023Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Patrick Hayden, Alderperson Joss 

Thyssen, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson 

Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, 

Alderperson Christopher Croatt and Alderperson Chad Doran

15 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

MINUTES OF THE MUNICIPAL SERVICES COMMITTEE1.

23-0508 Approve request from Creative Downtown Appleton, Inc. and Appleton 

Downtown, Inc. to install a parklet on the north side of Washington Street 

(NW corner of Washington Street and Appleton Street) at parking stall 

#289 per the On-Street Parklet Policy. 

 

CDA ADI Parklet Request 2023.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

MINUTES OF THE SAFETY AND LICENSING COMMITTEE2.

23-0404 Class "B" Beer and "Class C" Wine License application for Off The Vine 

Woodfire Pizza Co LLC d/b/a Broken Tree Pizza, Keith Schreiner, Agent, 

located at 201 S Riverheath Way Ste 1100, contingent upon approval 

from the Health, Inspections and Police departments.

Broken Tree Pizza.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

23-0470 Class "B" Beer and "Class B" Liquor License Change of Agent 

application for DDCT Inc, d/b/a Jim's Place, Stacy Hoffman, New Agent, 

located at 223 E College Ave.

Stacy Hoffman S&L.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

23-0471 Class "A" Beer and "Class A" Liquor License Change of Agent 

application for Walgreens Co, d/b/a Walgreens #05102, Andrew Eisele, 

New Agent, located at 700 W College Ave.

Andrew Eisele S&L.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

Page 5City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22684
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=0c2870a1-1cdc-4115-88a5-0f186205ca70.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22580
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=4658f9f0-d07b-4ade-a309-d95995d0e32b.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22646
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=60af38fe-8c50-4129-87ce-460479fa85bc.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22647
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=c5f5135e-c3e1-4510-aeb4-2ca002fb6dd3.pdf


May 17, 2023Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

23-0472 2023-2024 Alcohol License Renewal applications, contingent upon 

approval from all departments by 12:00 p.m. on June 30, 2023.

2023-24 Alcohol License Renewals.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

23-0475 Salvage Dealer Renewal application for Mr C's Motorcycles LLC, Janet 

Ristau, Applicant, located at 724 S. Outagamie St, contingent upon 

approval from all departments.

Mr C's Motorcycles S&L.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

23-0476 Class "A" Beer and "Class A" Liquor License Change of Agent 

application for Target Corporation d/b/a Target Store T-1248, Sara 

Matusz, New Agent, located at 1800 S Kensington Dr.

Sara Matusz S&L.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

23-0487 Class "A" Beer and "Class A" Liquor License application for Samyam 

LLC d/b/a Wisconsin Avenue Marathon, Sadhana Lamichhane, Agent, 

located at 1920 E Wisconsin Ave, contingent upon approvals from the 

Health, Inspections and Public Works departments.

Wisconsin Avenue Marathon S&L.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

23-0494 Cigarette License application for Samyam LLC d/b/a Wisconsin Avenue 

Marathon, located at 1920 E Wisconsin Ave.

Wisconsin Avenue Marathon S&L.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

23-0495 2023-2024 Cigarette and Tobacco Product License Renewals

2023-2024 Cigarette Renewals.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

MINUTES OF THE CITY PLAN COMMISSION3.

Page 6City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22648
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=24376848-d195-44a0-9a55-9321253aa78c.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22651
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=40fa3cbe-c631-43a8-b097-bd8e4639ca3b.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22652
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=662cb563-44d8-43f9-90cf-2de8c03c25f8.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22663
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=20bb8a72-19b4-4a3c-bc3c-62ba83239bfd.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22670
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=245fde74-a20a-4d57-9190-db2aa1ce50da.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22671
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=b19c311f-077e-4dc6-9ebd-4873faebf24a.pdf


May 17, 2023Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

23-0492 Request to approve the First Addition to Glacier Ridge Preliminary Plat 

as shown on the attached maps and subject to the conditions in the 

attached staff report

StaffReport_1st Addn Glacier Ridge_PreliminaryPlat_For5-10-23.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

MINUTES OF THE PARKS AND RECREATION COMMITTEE4.

23-0479 Approve the Committee Meeting Schedule modification of Parks & 

Recreation Committee beginning at 6:15 p.m. 

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

MINUTES OF THE FINANCE COMMITTEE5.

23-0546 Request to award contract for the AWTF Phosphoric Acid Treatment 

Project to August Winter and Sons in the amount of $863,750 with a 10% 

contingency of $86,375 for a project total not to exceed $950,125.

Phosphoric Acid Treatment Construction.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

23-0547 Request to approve the following Budget Amendment:

Reid Golf Course

Ground Repair & Maintenance + $25,000

Fund Balance + $25,000

to record Reid Paving Phase 1 project that was included in 2023 Capital 

Improvement Projects, however, not included in the Reid 2023 Budget.

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

MINUTES OF THE COMMUNITY AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE6.

Page 7City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22668
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=9a42faef-2d9c-48d4-9497-bd471f006f70.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22655
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22722
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=79ab8161-2041-42e4-b413-b7a75229530f.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22723


May 17, 2023Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

23-0489 Request to approve the Second Amendment to the Development 

Agreement with Rise Apartments, LLC (assigned from MF Housing 

Partners, LLC) for redevelopment located on N. Oneida Street, E. Harris 

Street, and N. Appleton Street (Parcel Nos. 31-2-0441-00, 31-2-0536-00 

and 31-2-0529-00) (per attached Certified Survey Maps in the process of 

being recorded) in Tax Increment Financing District No. 11 and approve 

the associated Assignment and Assumption of the Development 

Agreement

Rise Apts DA 2nd Amendment Memo to CEDC 5-10-23.pdf

0718 - Rise Apartments - Second Amendment to Dev Agrm - Clean - 

05-08-2023.pdf

Rise Apartments -- Assignment and Assumption of Development 

Agreement.pdf

FINAL Rise NORTH CSM 4-11-23.pdf

FINAL Rise SOUTH CSM 4-11-23.pdf

Attachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

MINUTES OF THE UTILITIES COMMITTEE7.

MINUTES OF THE HUMAN RESOURCES & INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 

COMMITTEE
8.

MINUTES OF THE FOX CITIES TRANSIT COMMISSION9.

MINUTES OF THE BOARD OF HEALTH10.

23-0501 Addition of Greenville to East Central Weights and Measures Consortium

GreenvilleMemoBOH_04.20.2023_a.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

CONSOLIDATED ACTION ITEMSM.

ITEMS HELDN.

ORDINANCESO.

23-0496 Ordinances #16-23 to #18-23

 

Ordinances to Council 5-17-23.pdfAttachments:

Alderperson Hartzheim moved, seconded by Alderperson Van Zeeland, that the 

Ordinances be approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Page 8City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22665
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=24ca159c-9245-4f1a-96a9-0509f0906eff.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=6b30093a-9ba2-48f7-94cc-c7baf710df8f.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=1f32cd67-1061-41a1-bbbd-661caa8f62c1.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=5bbf5812-fa5e-426d-910e-df9ce0df6629.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=225a13d4-245e-4fc7-83bf-ca76f20b0d93.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22677
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=0c1b1546-ebb3-49cd-9c82-1442e6a8dab6.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22672
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=e2d81ef6-bc3e-43ab-92b0-187dfa590c36.pdf


May 17, 2023Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Patrick Hayden, Alderperson Joss 

Thyssen, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson 

Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, 

Alderperson Christopher Croatt and Alderperson Chad Doran

15 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

LICENSE APPLICATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS REFERRED TO 

COMMITTEES OF JURISDICTION
P.

RESOLUTIONS SUBMITTED BY ALDERPERSONS REFERRED TO COMMITTEES 

OF JURISDICTION
Q.

OTHER COUNCIL BUSINESSR.

ADJOURNS.

Alderperson Hartzheim moved, seconded by Alderperson Wolff, that the 

meeting be adjourned at 7:28 p.m. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following 

vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Patrick Hayden, Alderperson Joss 

Thyssen, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson 

Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, 

Alderperson Christopher Croatt and Alderperson Chad Doran

15 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

Kami Lynch, City Clerk

Page 9City of Appleton













THREE PARTY DESIGN ENGINEERING SERVICES CONTRACT 
SIGNATURE PAGES 

Date: March 25, 2020     Page 1 of 3 
 

 

ENGINEERING SERVICES CONTRACT 

BETWEEN THE WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,  

CITY OF APPLETON (MUNICIPALITY) 

AND AYRES ASSOCIATES INC (CONSULTANT) FOR 
 

Project ID 4984‐24‐74 
C Appleton, Lawe Street 

College Avenue to Wisconsin Ave 
Local Street, Outagamie County 

 
This CONTRACT made and entered into by and between the DEPARTMENT, MUNICIPALITY and the 
CONSULTANT provides for those SERVICES described in the Scope of Services and Special Provisions and 
is generally for the purpose of providing the SERVICES solicited by the MUNICIPALITY in the City of 
Appleton Engineering Notice of Interest (NOI) dated February 1, 2023 and for topographic survey, 
environmental analysis and documentation, design reports, utility coordination, agency coordination, 
preliminary and final roadway plans, and PS&E documents.   This Qualification Based Selection was 
made based on the CONSULTANT’S Notice of Interest response and any interviews conducted. 

The DEPARTMENT and MUNICIPALITY deem it advisable to engage the CONSULTANT to provide certain 
engineering SERVICES and has authority to contract for these SERVICES under sec. 84.01(13), Wis. Stats. 

 

The DEPARTMENT REPRESENTATIVE is: Michael Cohen, PE; NE Region Project Manager; 944 Vanderperren 
Way, Green Bay, WI 54304; Michael.Cohen@dot.wi.gov; (920) 360‐1476. 

 
The MUNICIPALITY REPRESENTATIVE is: Mark A Lahay, PE; Assistant City Engineer; 100 N Appleton Street, 
Appleton, WI 54911; Mark.Lahay@Appleton.org; (920) 832‐6486. 

 
The CONSULTANT REPRESENTATIVE is: Troy Robillard, PE; Project Manager; 3376 Packerland Drive; 
Ashwaubenon, WI 54115; RobillardT@AyresAssociates.com; (920) 498‐1200. 

 
The CONSULTANT SERVICES will be performed for the DEPARTMENT's Northeast Region office located in 
Green Bay, WI and will be completed by May 1, 2026.  Deliver PROJECT DOCUMENTS to 944 Vanderperren 
Way, Green Bay, WI 54304, unless other directions are given by the DEPARTMENT. 

 
Compensation for all SERVICES provided by the CONSULTANT under the terms of the CONTRACT will be 
from the: 

 DEPARTMENT    MUNICIPALITY   
 

For topographic survey, environmental analysis and documentation, design reports, utility and agency 

coordination, preliminary and final roadway design and PS&E documents, actual costs to the 

CONSULTANT up to $366,895.93, plus a fixed fee of $23,994.46, not to exceed $390,890.39. 

For subsurface investigation subcontracted to ECS Midwest, LLC, the CONSULTANT’S actual cost to ECS 

Midwest, LLC not to exceed $6,951.00 for units delivered based on their proposal dated March 24, 2023.  

DocuSign Envelope ID: 79063D1D-932F-4EDA-AE92-CC3FA3B2368D



THREE PARTY DESIGN ENGINEERING SERVICES CONTRACT 
SIGNATURE PAGES 

Date: March 25, 2020     Page 2 of 3 
 

 

 

 

Item Description  Quantity  Unit Type Unit Cost Rate  Totals 

Mobilization  1  Trip  $525.00  $525.00 

Standard Penetration Test Borings (0’ to 40’)  80  Foot  $18.00  $1,440.00 

Boring Abandonment  80  Foot  $5.25  $420.00 

Pavement Patch  8  Each  $77.00  $616.00 

Utility Clearance and Coordination  4  Hour  $100.00  $400.00 

Traffic Control Signs and Cones  1  Day  $110.00  $110.00 

Traffic Control 2‐Person Flag Crew  1  Day  $1,250.00  $1,250.00 

City of Appleton Street Excavation Permit Fee  1  Each  $250.00  $250.00 

Laboratory Testing and Boring Log Preparation  6  Hour  $65.00  $390.00 

Report Preparation – Staff Geotechnical 
Engineer 

12  Hour  $100.00  $1,200.00 

Report Preparation – Senior Geotechnical 
Engineer 

2   Hour  $175.00  $350.00 

 

For Archaeological and Historical investigations subcontracted to UWM Cultural Resource Management, 

the CONSULTANT’S actual cost to UWM Cultural Resource Management not to exceed $32,912.99 based 

on their proposal dated March 23, 2023. 

For title searches subcontracted to Dominion Title & Exchange Services, the CONSULTANT’S actual cost 

to Dominion Title & Exchange Services not to exceed $9,180.00 for units delivered based on their 

proposal dated March 30, 2023.  

 

Item Description  Quantity  Unit Type Unit Cost Rate  Totals 

100‐year Title Search Report  12  Each  $200.00  $2,400.00 

Standard Letter Reports  66  Each  $85.00  $5,610.00 

Title Search Updates  78  Each  $15.00  $1,170.00 

 

Compensation for all SERVICES provided by the CONSULTANT under the terms of the CONTRACT shall be 
for an amount not to exceed $439,934.38. 

The CONSULTANT does and will comply with the laws and regulations relating to the profession of 
engineering and will provide the desired engineering SERVICES. 

This CONTRACT incorporates and the parties agree to all of the standard provisions of the Three Party 
Design Engineering Services Contract, dated July 1, 2015 and referenced in Procedure 8‐15‐1 of the 
State of Wisconsin Department of Transportation Facilities Development Manual.  CONSULTANT 
acknowledges receipt of a copy of these standard provisions. 

This CONTRACT incorporates all of the MANUALS defined in the CONTRACT. 

The parties also agree to all of the Special Provisions which are annexed and made a part of this 
CONTRACT, consisting of 8 pages. 
 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 79063D1D-932F-4EDA-AE92-CC3FA3B2368D



THREE PARTY DESIGN ENGINEERING SERVICES CONTRACT 
SIGNATURE PAGES 

Date: March 25, 2020     Page 3 of 3 
 

 

Nothing in this CONTRACT accords any third party beneficiary rights whatsoever on any non‐party that 
may be enforced by any non‐party to this contract. 
 

For the CONSULTANT          For the DEPARTMENT 

 

By:  ____________________________________    By:  _____________________________________  

 

Title:  Vice President  ______________________    Contract Manager, WisDOT 

 

Date: ___________________________________    Date:  ___________________________________  

 

 

For the MUNICIPALITY   

 

By:  ____________________________________     

 

Title: ___________________________________     

 

Date: ___________________________________     
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 79063D1D-932F-4EDA-AE92-CC3FA3B2368D

08 May 2023

Director of Public Works



 
  Page 1 of 8 

Project ID 4984‐24‐74 
C Appleton, Lawe Street 
College Avenue to Wisconsin Avenue 
Local Street, Outagamie County 
 
THREE PARTY DESIGN CONTRACT SPECIAL PROVISIONS 
 
The following are recommended special provisions for the design contract to be inserted behind 
the standard provisions. 
 
VI. SPECIAL PROVISIONS 
 

 SCOPE OF SERVICES 

A. DESIGN REPORTS 

 (1) Other Reports: 
 
 Prepare the following engineering reports/analyses as directed by the MUNICIPALITY: 

 Pavement Design Report as set forth in the MANUAL 
 Stormwater Spreadsheets 
 Design Study Report 
 Transportation Management Plan, Type 2  
 Soil Report 

          
B. ENVIRONMENTAL DOCUMENTATION  

 Execute a disclosure statement as required by 40 CFR 1506.5(c). 
 
 Prepare a Categorical Exclusion Checklist (CEC) Environmental document for the 

PROJECT as specified in the MANUAL and Chapter TRANS 400, Wisconsin Administrative 
Code. Furnish the required number to the MUNICIPALITY for approval. 

 
 Prepare an environmental document that evaluates reasonable alternatives to the 

PROJECT and consider other reasonable actions or activities that may achieve the same 
or similar goals of the proposed highway PROJECT, including other or additional 
transportation alternatives and intermodal opportunities and the alternative of taking no 
action. Evaluate alternative courses of action based upon a balanced consideration of the 
environment, public comments, and the need for safe and efficient transportation consistent 
with local, state, and national environmental goals. Prepare environmental documents that 
are concise and emphasize significant environmental issues and plausible alternatives. 
Comply with requirements specified in the MANUAL and TRANS 400, Wisconsin 
Administrative Code. In the event of a conflict between the MANUAL and TRANS 400, 
Wisconsin Administrative Code, the administrative rule supersedes. 

 
 (1) Historical and Archaeological Surveys and Studies: 
 
  (a) Identify the Area of Potential Effect for the PROJECT. Conduct a 

reconnaissance survey as specified in the MANUAL. Submit the results of 
the archaeological and historical reconnaissance and evaluation studies to 
the region project manager. Obtain recommendations from SHPO, the 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 79063D1D-932F-4EDA-AE92-CC3FA3B2368D



 
  Page 2 of 8 

historian and the Project Manager regarding historical/architectural 
reconnaissance surveys. Obtain recommendations from the archaeologist, 
Bureau of Environment and the Project Manager prior to conducting 
evaluation studies when further work is needed. 

 
  (b) Prepare a report as required in the "Guidelines for Preparation of Formal 

Report on Archaeological Materials or Sites" in accordance with the 
MANUAL. Document the results of the reconnaissance survey for 
architecture/history using the “Architecture/History Survey Form”. 

 
 (2) Hazardous Materials/Contamination Assessments 
 
  (a) Conduct a Phase I investigation for the PROJECT in accordance with the 

MANUAL. 
 
  (b) Obtain direction from the Project Manager and the Region environmental 

coordinator prior to conducting further evaluation studies when Phase 1 
indicates further work is needed. 

 
  (c) The MUNICIPALITY acknowledges that the CONSULTANT is not, by virtue 

of this CONTRACT, the owner or generator of any waste materials 
generated as a result of the Hazardous Materials/ Contamination 
Assessments services performed by the CONSULTANT under this 
CONTRACT.    Dispose of investigative waste in accordance with the 
MANUAL. 

 
 (3) Native American Coordination 
  (a) Prepare an email notification and submit to the DEPARTMENT for review 

and approval.  The emails will be sent out by the DEPARTMENT.   
 
C. AGENCY COORDINATION 

 (1) Section 401 and 402 Certifications: 
 
  Evaluate the effects of the PROJECT on water quality, in accordance with the 

provisions of the Clean Water Act and Chapter TRANS 400, Wisconsin 
Administrative Code and the MANUAL; and prepare the necessary application. 

 
 (2) US Fish and Wildlife Service Coordination: 
 

(a) Coordinate with the US Fish and Wildlife Service for potential impacts to 
endangered and threatened species.  

 
D. RAILROAD/ UTILITY INVOLVEMENTS 

 (1) Utility Coordination 
  Perform all utility coordination in accordance with: 
 

a) The WisDOT “Guide to Utility Coordination” for non-TRANS 220 projects.   
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 79063D1D-932F-4EDA-AE92-CC3FA3B2368D



 
  Page 3 of 8 

(2) Transmit final utility related documents to the DEPARTMENT a minimum of 30 days 
prior to the final PS&E submittal date.  This submittal shall include the following 
information:  

 
a) Utility Status Report 

 
b) Utility related special provisions 

 
c) Plans specific to utility related items, including general notes, plan and 

profile, cross sections, and bridge sheets.  
 

d) One utility coordination meeting 
 

e) All agreement documents, including any utility conveyances, lump sum 
agreement, and audit agreements.  
 

f) Approved work plans by the MUNICIPALITY 
 

(3) The CONSULTANT will survey new utilities after their relocation and prior to 
construction, to confirm their moves matched their proposed work plans.    

 
(4) The CONSULTANT will perform a railroad crossing report, and coordinate the 

PROJECT improvements with CN Railroad and the DEPARTMENT.   
 
E. PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT 

 (1) Public Involvement Meetings: 
 
  (a) Conduct or assist the MUNICIPALITY in holding one public involvement 

meeting and explain to the public concepts and probable impacts of this 
PROJECT. 

 
  (b) Prepare all exhibits and supplementary handout material and provide the 

equipment necessary to conduct the public involvement meeting. 
 
  (c) Prepare a summary report after the public involvement meeting. 
 
  (d) Discuss with the MUNICIPALITY the comments received and recommend 

the possible disposition of these comments and suggestions after the public 
involvement meeting. 

 
  (e) Make all the necessary arrangements for scheduling the public involvement 

meeting and provide notices and press releases for the MUNICIPALITY’S 
use. 

 
  (f) Provide the MUNICIPALITY with copies of all public involvement 

correspondence and file notes. 
 
  (g) Coordinate meeting schedules with the MUNICIPALITY'S representative. 
 
  (h) Prepare a Public Involvement Plan (PIP) for the PROJECT. 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 79063D1D-932F-4EDA-AE92-CC3FA3B2368D



 
  Page 4 of 8 

(i) Attend two Municipal Services Committee meetings for MUNICIPALITY’s 
approval of the design at an approximate 30% design level.   

    
 (2) Project Mailings: 
 
   The MUNICIPALITY shall provide a mailing list for the public involvement 

meeting.  The CONSULTANT is responsible for sending out letters for the 
public involvement meeting.   

 
F. MEETINGS 

(1) Hold an Operational Planning Meeting to discuss the organization and 
processing of the Services under this CONTRACT. 

 
 (2) A 30%, 60% and 90% Review meeting shall be at the City of Appleton public 

works building with the MUNICIPALITY and the DEPARTMENT. 
 
 (3) Two project coordination meetings are anticipated to be held with City of 

Appleton’s staff to discuss project improvements. 
 
 (4) Attend the pre-construction conference as scheduled by the DEPARTMENT.  
 
G. SURVEYS 

 (1)  Perform full topographic survey in the following areas along the PROJECT:  
 

a. Perform full topo for approximately 4,200 lineal feet of roadway along Lawe 
Street in the City of Appleton at 50-foot intervals going to the lesser of, 50 feet on 
either side of centerline of Lawe Street or to building faces, and 100 feet down 
the centerline of side streets. 

b. Set a minimum of 4 horizontal control points using conventional methods and 8 
vertical benchmarks with digital level.  

c. Measure and dip all storm structures within topographical limits and one beyond 
if applicable. 
 

(2)  Diggers Hotline will be used to have underground utilities located.  These utilities 
will be surveyed at the flagged/painted locations.  The CONSULTANT is not liable 
for errors performed by Diggers Hotline for the location of existing utilities. 

 
(3)  The CONSULTANT will create a 360-degree view of the existing roadway, for 

documentation of pictures along the project corridor.     
 
H. SOILS AND SUBSURFACE INVESTIGATIONS 

(1) Perform 8 borings to a depth of 10 feet below the existing grade, to determine the 
existing pavement structure, including base courses and shoulders, in order to 
determine quantities and qualities of materials available for project needs. 
  

(2) The CONSULTANT shall backfill all boreholes and monitoring wells per the April 
20, 1992, guidelines titled "Wisconsin Department of Transportation Geotechnical 
Section - Drilled Borehole and Monitoring Well Abandonment Procedures".  Spoil 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 79063D1D-932F-4EDA-AE92-CC3FA3B2368D



 
  Page 5 of 8 

material from boring samples shall be disposed of such that the surrounding 
environment is not adversely impacted, including any nearby streams.   

 
 (3) Perform subsurface investigations to analyze project geotechnical concerns and 

provide full detailed recommendations. The soils shall be classified by 
pedological means to provide pavement design parameters. 

 
I. ROAD PLANS 

 Section II C (9) in the Standard Provision of the CONTRACT is amended to include the 
following plans: 

 
  Pavement Marking, and Permanent Signing Plan 
  Pedestrian Detour 
  Vehicular Detour 
  Lighting Plans (College Ave to North Street) 
  Storm Sewer Plans (for inlets and laterals) 
   

(1) The CONSULTANT will do a storm sewer plan for inlets/leads/laterals along the 
project corridor.  The MUNICIPALITY will be designing the storm sewer main, that 
will be replaced prior to construction.    
 

(2) The CONSULTANT will analyze existing street lighting levels along the 
PROJECT and give recommendations for lighting.  The CONSULTANT shall 
design lighting plans for Lawe Street, between College Avenue and North Street.  

 
(3) The CONSULTANT will evaluate three different typical sections along Lawe Street, 

and pedestrian enhancements at the North Street and Washington Street 
intersections.     
 

(4) The CONSULTANT shall submit 30%, 60% and 90% plans to the DEPARTMENT 
and the MUNICIPALITY for review and comment.  Included in each of the plan 
submittals will be an estimated project cost and an estimate of the road builders’ 
quantities.   

 
J.  TRANSPORTATION PROJECT PLATS 

(1) The CONSULTANT shall prepare a transportation project plat for the PROJECT 
in accordance with the MANUAL.  The plat is estimated to be 12 fee parcels, 66 
TLE’s and confined to five transportation project plat sheets and/or temporary 
limited easement (TLE) exhibits, and one plat title sheet.   

 
(a) Prepare the transportation project plat sheet showing coordinates on all 

section corners and on all main line and side road survey line/reference 
line PI’s. 
 

(b) All coordinate information will be referenced to the Wisconsin County 
Coordinate Reference System (English) NAD 1983, (2011) adjustment.  

 
(c) Show all newly monumented right-of-way points and reestablished right-of-

way points with the size and kind noted (e.x. 1” I.P.) in accordance with the 
MANUALS. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 79063D1D-932F-4EDA-AE92-CC3FA3B2368D



 
  Page 6 of 8 

 
(d) Show all recovered monuments with the size and kind noted in accordance 

with the MANUALS. 
 

(e) Note on the plat existing property lines along with CSM’s, subdivisions, 
assessor plats, county plats, and condominium plats, plats of survey and 
other surveys of record. 

 
(f) Assign a note or table to transportation project plat to include the historical 

basis for dimensioning the existing highway right-of-way; include 
intersecting roads. 

 
(g) Show the bearing and distance along the section line to the adjacent 

quarter corner or section corner whenever the mainline reference line and 
the right-of-way lines cross a section line.  Note on the plat the type and 
coordinates of the section corner. 

 
 (2) The CONSULTANT will provide up to 12 full title searches, and 12 title updates.  

In addition, the CONSULTANT will provide up to 66 current deed of record with 
utilities for TLE parcels.   

 
 (3) Provide right-of-way descriptions for all individual parcels of land and interests to 

be acquired as right-of-way for the PROJECT. Write descriptions in accordance 
with the MANUALS. 

 
 (4) The CONSULTANT shall temporary stake proposed right of way for appraisals, 

and monument the new right-of-way points with a 1” by 24” iron pipe, as depicted 
on the transportation project plat, prior to construction.  

 
 (5) The CONSULTANT shall be responsible for all revisions to the transportation 

project plat and right-of-way descriptions, unless specifically excluded by the 
CONTRACT. All amendments or revisions to the recorded transportation project 
plat shall be made in accordance with the transportation project plat guidelines. 

 

K. TRAFFIC 

(1) The CONSULTANT will collect 12-hour vehicle turning movement counts at the 
following locations: 

• Lawe Street & College Avenue 

• Lawe Street & Wisconsin Avenue 

 
(2) CONSULTANT will perform a project crash review of the PROJECT corridor.  

 
(3) CONSULTANT will perform operational analysis for the following: 

• Lane assignment of Lawe Street approaching College Avenue. This 
includes analyzing southbound queuing for determining turn bay lengths 
and analyze the cross-section with or without dedicated bike lanes. 

• South of Wisconsin Avenue, analyze the southbound 2 lane to 1 lane 
transition through the existing S-curve. Analysis will include lane 
assignment of southbound Meade Street at Wisconsin Avenue, and an 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 79063D1D-932F-4EDA-AE92-CC3FA3B2368D



 
  Page 7 of 8 

option to relocate E Summer St to intersect Lawe St at a 90-degree 
angle. 

 
L. SERVICES PROVIDED BY THE MUNICIPALITY  

 The MUNICIPALITY will provide to the CONSULTANT the following for the PROJECT: 
 
 (1) As-built plans, if available 

  (2) Publish the press release and provide the mailing list for the public involvement 
meeting 

 (3) Traffic control for soil boring operations.  
 (4) Traffic forecasts through ECWRPC 
 (5) Traffic signal timings 
   

PROSECUTION AND PROGRESS 

 (1) The MUNICIPALITY shall report on the progress of the PROJECT as stipulated in 
the contract agreement. Standard benchmarks, consistent with DEPARTMENT’S 
internal staff benchmarks, will be reported monthly to the DEPARTMENT. The actual 
start, projected or actual finish date, and percent of work complete will be included 
for all relevant benchmarks on any project report required for delivery to 
DEPARTMENT staff. The report can be delivered in electronic format consistent with 
current DEPARTMENT standards (Microsoft Project), or on paper.  

 
 (2) The CONSULTANT proposes to sublet these services to 
 -    Engineering Consulting Services (ECS) for soils investigation 
 -  University of Milwaukee – Cultural Resource Management for historical and 

archaeological surveys 
 -    Dominion Title & Exchange Services for title searches 
 

(3) The following items of work will be completed and submitted to the MUNICIPALITY 
by the indicated dates, if CONSULTANT has received the Notice to Proceed by June 
1, 2023.   

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 79063D1D-932F-4EDA-AE92-CC3FA3B2368D



 
  Page 8 of 8 

Report Title Date 

Survey 6/2023 

Operational Planning Meeting 8/2023 

30% Plans 12/2023 

Section 106 submittal 1/2024 

Public Involvement Meeting 3/2024 

Environment Document Submittal 5/2024 

Design Study Report Submittal 7/2024 

60% Plans 7/2024 

Preliminary Plat 8/2024 

Final Plat 10/2024 

90% Plans 4/2025 

Finals PS&E Submittal 8/1/2025 

LET date 12/9/2025 

Preconstruction Meeting 4/2026 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 79063D1D-932F-4EDA-AE92-CC3FA3B2368D



Certificate Of Completion
Envelope Id: 79063D1D932F4EDAAE92CC3FA3B2368D Status: Sent

Subject: Complete with DocuSign: 49842474-1400045926-202305-C.pdf

Source Envelope: 

Document Pages: 11 Signatures: 1 Envelope Originator: 

Certificate Pages: 5 Initials: 0 Brenda Veeser

AutoNav: Enabled

EnvelopeId Stamping: Enabled

Time Zone: (UTC-06:00) Central Time (US & Canada)

4822 Madison Yards Way

Madison, WI  53705

brenda.veeser@dot.wi.gov

IP Address: 165.189.255.43 

Record Tracking
Status: Original

             5/8/2023 7:25:01 AM

Holder: Brenda Veeser

             brenda.veeser@dot.wi.gov

Location: DocuSign

Security Appliance Status: Connected Pool: StateLocal

Storage Appliance Status: Connected Pool: Wisconsin Department of Transportation Location: DocuSign

Signer Events Signature Timestamp
Eric Sorensen

sorensene@ayresassociates.com

Vice President

Security Level: Email, Account Authentication 
(None) Signature Adoption: Pre-selected Style

Using IP Address: 184.105.30.18

Sent: 5/8/2023 7:29:50 AM

Viewed: 5/8/2023 8:23:59 AM 

Signed: 5/8/2023 8:32:37 AM

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure: 
      Accepted: 5/8/2023 8:23:59 AM
      ID: fdbbff3e-e8be-464f-8afb-eeb0e10c5841

Danielle Block

danielle.block@appleton.org

Director of Public Works

Security Level: Email, Account Authentication 
(None)

Sent: 5/8/2023 8:32:39 AM

Viewed: 5/8/2023 9:23:15 AM 

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure: 
      Accepted: 5/8/2023 9:23:15 AM
      ID: 4a1c2cba-6c74-4b85-8238-5d5f24a11204

CAU Consultant SG

Signing Group: CAU Consultant SG

Security Level: Email, Account Authentication 
(None)

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure: 
      Not Offered via DocuSign

In Person Signer Events Signature Timestamp

Editor Delivery Events Status Timestamp

Agent Delivery Events Status Timestamp

Intermediary Delivery Events Status Timestamp

Certified Delivery Events Status Timestamp

Carbon Copy Events Status Timestamp



Witness Events Signature Timestamp

Notary Events Signature Timestamp

Envelope Summary Events Status Timestamps
Envelope Sent Hashed/Encrypted 5/8/2023 7:29:50 AM

Payment Events Status Timestamps

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure



ELECTRONIC RECORD AND SIGNATURE DISCLOSURE 
From time to time, Wisconsin Department of Transportation (we, us or Company) may be
required by law to provide to you certain written notices or disclosures. Described below are the
terms and conditions for providing to you such notices and disclosures electronically through
your DocuSign, Inc. (DocuSign) Express user account. Please read the information below
carefully and thoroughly, and if you can access this information electronically to your
satisfaction and agree to these terms and conditions, please confirm your agreement by clicking
the 'I agree' button at the bottom of this document. 
Getting paper copies 
At any time, you may request from us a paper copy of any record provided or made available
electronically to you by us. For such copies, as long as you are an authorized user of the
DocuSign system you will have the ability to download and print any documents we send to you
through your DocuSign user account for a limited period of time (usually 30 days) after such
documents are first sent to you. After such time, if you wish for us to send you paper copies of
any such documents from our office to you, you will be charged a $0.00 per-page fee. You may
request delivery of such paper copies from us by following the procedure described below. 
Withdrawing your consent 

If you decide to receive notices and disclosures from us electronically, you may at any time
change your mind and tell us that thereafter you want to receive required notices and disclosures
only in paper format. How you must inform us of your decision to receive future notices and
disclosure in paper format and withdraw your consent to receive notices and disclosures
electronically is described below. 
Consequences of changing your mind 
If you elect to receive required notices and disclosures only in paper format, it will slow the
speed at which we can complete certain steps in transactions with you and delivering services to
you because we will need first to send the required notices or disclosures to you in paper format,
and then wait until we receive back from you your acknowledgment of your receipt of such
paper notices or disclosures. To indicate to us that you are changing your mind, you must
withdraw your consent using the DocuSign 'Withdraw Consent' form on the signing page of your
DocuSign account. This will indicate to us that you have withdrawn your consent to receive
required notices and disclosures electronically from us and you will no longer be able to use your
DocuSign Express user account to receive required notices and consents electronically from us
or to sign electronically documents from us. 
All notices and disclosures will be sent to you electronically 
Unless you tell us otherwise in accordance with the procedures described herein, we will provide
electronically to you through your DocuSign user account all required notices, disclosures,
authorizations, acknowledgements, and other documents that are required to be provided or
made available to you during the course of our relationship with you. To reduce the chance of
you inadvertently not receiving any notice or disclosure, we prefer to provide all of the required
notices and disclosures to you by the same method and to the same address that you have given
us. Thus, you can receive all the disclosures and notices electronically or in paper format through
the paper mail delivery system. If you do not agree with this process, please let us know as
described below. Please also see the paragraph immediately above that describes the
consequences of your electing not to receive delivery of the notices and disclosures
electronically from us. 

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure created on: 5/1/2015 4:37:22 PM
Parties agreed to: Eric Sorensen, Danielle Block



How to contact Wisconsin Department of Transportation: 
You may contact us to let us know of your changes as to how we may contact you electronically,
to request paper copies of certain information from us, and to withdraw your prior consent to
receive notices and disclosures electronically as follows:
 To contact us by email send messages to: david.esse@dot.wi.gov
 
To advise Wisconsin Department of Transportation of your new e-mail address 

To let us know of a change in your e-mail address where we should send notices and disclosures
electronically to you, you must send an email message to us at david.esse@dot.wi.gov and in the
body of such request you must state: your previous e-mail address, your new e-mail address.  We
do not require any other information from you to change your email address..  
In addition, you must notify DocuSign, Inc to arrange for your new email address to be reflected
in your DocuSign account by following the process for changing e-mail in DocuSign. 
To request paper copies from Wisconsin Department of Transportation 
To request delivery from us of paper copies of the notices and disclosures previously provided
by us to you electronically, you must send us an e-mail to david.esse@dot.wi.gov and in the
body of such request you must state your e-mail address, full name, US Postal address, and
telephone number. We will bill you for any fees at that time, if any. 
To withdraw your consent with Wisconsin Department of Transportation 
To inform us that you no longer want to receive future notices and disclosures in electronic
format you may:

i. decline to sign a document from within your DocuSign account, and on the subsequent
page, select the check-box indicating you wish to withdraw your consent, or you may;
ii. send us an e-mail to david.esse@dot.wi.gov and in the body of such request you must
state your e-mail, full name, IS Postal Address, telephone number, and account number.
We do not need any other information from you to withdraw consent..  The consequences
of your withdrawing consent for online documents will be that transactions may take a
longer time to process.. 

Required hardware and software 

Operating Systems: Windows2000? or WindowsXP? 

Browsers (for SENDERS): Internet Explorer 6.0? or above 

Browsers (for SIGNERS): Internet Explorer 6.0?, Mozilla FireFox 1.0,
NetScape 7.2 (or above) 

Email: Access to a valid email account 

Screen Resolution: 800 x 600 minimum 

Enabled Security Settings: 
•Allow per session cookies

 
•Users accessing the internet behind a Proxy

Server must enable HTTP 1.1 settings via
proxy connection 

** These minimum requirements are subject to change. If these requirements change, we will
provide you with an email message at the email address we have on file for you at that time
providing you with the revised hardware and software requirements, at which time you will
have the right to withdraw your consent. 



Acknowledging your access and consent to receive materials electronically 
To confirm to us that you can access this information electronically, which will be similar to
other electronic notices and disclosures that we will provide to you, please verify that you
were able to read this electronic disclosure and that you also were able to print on paper or
electronically save this page for your future reference and access or that you were able to
e-mail this disclosure and consent to an address where you will be able to print on paper or
save it for your future reference and access. Further, if you consent to receiving notices and
disclosures exclusively in electronic format on the terms and conditions described above,
please let us know by clicking the 'I agree' button below. 
By checking the 'I Agree' box, I confirm that: 

• I can access and read this Electronic CONSENT TO ELECTRONIC RECEIPT OF
ELECTRONIC RECORD AND SIGNATURE DISCLOSURES document; and
 

• I can print on paper the disclosure or save or send the disclosure to a place where I can
print it, for future reference and access; and
 

• Until or unless I notify Wisconsin Department of Transportation as described above, I
consent to receive from exclusively through electronic means all notices, disclosures,
authorizations, acknowledgements, and other documents that are required to be
provided or made available to me by  Wisconsin Department of Transportation during
the course of my relationship with you.
 



 BRIDGE INSPECTION AGREEMENT BETWEEN 
 OUTAGAMIE COUNTY  
 AND 
 CITY OF APPLETON 
  
  

Page 1 of 2 
 

THIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into by and between the City of Appleton, hereinafter 

referred to as the CITY, and the Outagamie County Highway Department, hereinafter referred to as the 

COUNTY regarding the National Bridge Inspection Standards (NBIS) responsibilities.  

 WITNESSETH: 

 WHEREAS, the COUNTY is responsible for the inspection of all local highway bridges including 

county and municipality (city, villages, townships, etc.) highways, roadways, and streets,  

 WHEREAS, the CITY is the owner of local highway bridges on CITY roads or streets within their 

jurisdiction,  

 WHEREAS, the Wisconsin SIM and NBIS sets forth standards, methods and procedures that 

enable local highway bridge owners to comply with the NBIS, 

 WHEREAS, bridge inspections are requirement of the NBIS and the SIM, and  

 WHEREAS, the parties wish to enter into this agreement to establish uniform bridge inspection 

guidelines in accordance with NBIS. 

 NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of these facts and the promises of the parties, the parties 

hereto agree as follows: 

 

SECTION 1:  DEFINITIONS 

 Wherever in this agreement the following terms are used, they will have the meaning here 

given: 

 CITY means a Wisconsin municipality with jurisdiction over local highway bridges. 

 FHWA means the Federal Highway Administration. 

 LOCAL HIGHWAY BRIDGES mean those bridges within the corporate limits of the City of 

Appleton as identified in Exhibit 1 and Exhibit 2 attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference. 

 NBIS means the National Bridge Inspection Standards, Code of Federal Regulations Title 23, Part 

650, Subpart C. 

 SIM means the Wisconsin Structures Inspection Manual. 

 HSIS means WisDOT’s Highway Structures Inventory System.  

 

SECTION 2:  PURPOSE 

 The purpose of this agreement is to define the CITY’s responsibilities in complying with the NBIS, 

which, in part requires that every bridge have a safety inspection completed on specific intervals. 



 BRIDGE INSPECTION AGREEMENT BETWEEN 
 OUTAGAMIE COUNTY  
 AND 
 CITY OF APPLETON 
  
  

Page 2 of 2 
 

SECTION 3:  SCOPE OF LOCAL HIGHWAY BRIDGE OWNER RESPONSIBILITIES AND SCHEDULE FOR 

COMPLETION 

1. Bridge Safety Inspection 

All local highway bridges shall be inspected by the CITY or their consultant in compliance 

with the procedures set forth in the SIM manual. This requires in part, that each type of 

required inspection is completed by a WisDOT certified bridge inspection Team Leader with 

the required training for the inspection type; the inspections be completed within the 

specified inspection time interval for each given bridge; and the reports to be submitted in 

WisDOT’s HSIS following the procedures and timeframes set out in the SIM. Inspections will 

periodically undergo a Quality Control check by the COUNTY Program Manager.  

 

2. Bridge Inspection Activities 

All local highway bridges requiring special inspection activity types shall be completed by 

the CITY or their consultant in compliance with the procedures in the SIM manual.  

 

SECTION 4:  COUNTY RESPONSIBILITIES 

1. The COUNTY will periodically perform Quality Control checks by the COUNTY inspection 

Program Manager.  

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the CITY and the COUNTY hereto have caused this agreement to be executed by 

their proper officials thereunto duly authorized as of the dates below indicated.  

 

 EXECUTED by the CITY this _________day of ___________________, 2023. 

 

 ______________________________  ___________________________________ 

 Name      Title 

 

EXECUTED by the COUNTY this ______________day of ___________________, 2023. 

 

 ______________________________  ___________________________________ 

 Name      Title 



sid city no. on under
B440082 17 APPLETON ST SBL JONES PARK RD
B440098 1 STH 47-MEMORIAL DR FOX RIVER
B440107 13 PACIFIC ST PEABODY PARK ROAD
B440143 24 Glory Lane French Road Ditch
B440188 2 OLDE ONEIDA ST NORTH MILLRACE
B440192 30 LIGHTNING DRIVE AAL Tributary
B440194 21 FRENCH ROAD APPLE CREEK
B440196 35 PROVIDENCE RD APPLE CREEK
B440252 29 GLENHURST LANE (East) TRIBUTARY TO APPLE CREEK
B440253 28 GLENHURST LANE (West) TRIBUTARY TO APPLE CREEK
B440256 19 PEDESTRIAN WALKWAY SUPERIOR STREET
B440257 25 LIGHTNING DRIVE Apple Creek
B440260 12 COLLEGE AVE FOX RIVER
B440261 31 Cherryvale Avenue Apple Creek
B440266 32 ASHBURY DRIVE French Rd Swale
B440267 34 CTH JJ Apple Creek
B440268 22 PROVIDENCE AVE APPLE CREEK CHANNEL
B440269 21 FRENCH ROAD Apple Creek Channel
B440270 37 SALM RD APPLE CREEK CHANNEL
B440275 11 BANTA CT FOX RIVER POWER CANAL
B440280 38 Memorial Park Walkway Apple Creek
B440284 14 PROSPECT AVE JACKMAN ST
B440390 33 WERNER RD UNNAMED STREAM
B440391 17 Appleton Street Entrance to Jones Park
B440468 40 PEDESTRIAN BRIDGE LAWRENCE ST
B440479 44 OSPREY LANE APPLE CREEK
B440481 47 Rubyred Drive Apple Creek Northeast
B440483 48 E Harrier Lane Apple Creek
B440886 3 OLDE ONEIDA ST FOX RIVER
P440715 42 CTH E BALLARD RD DRAINAGE WAY
P440717 8 LAWE ST FOX RIVER
P440718 9 LAWE ST POWER CANAL
P440719 10 LAWE ST NAVIGATION CANAL
P440723 4 OLDE ONEIDA ST SOUTH CANAL
P440724 5 OLDE ONEIDA ST NAVIGATION CANAL
P440729 7 S ISLAND ST Power Canal

EXHIBIT 1



B-44-0268
B-44-0269

B-44-0270

B-44-0275

B-44-0280

B-44-0284

B-44-0390

B-44-0391B-44-0468

B-44-0479

B-44-0481B-44-0483

B-44-0886

P-44-0715

P-44-0717

P-44-0718

P-44-0719

P-44-0723

P-44-0724

P-44-0729

B-44-0082

B-44-0098

B-44-0107

B-44-0143

B-44-0188

B-44-0192

B-44-0194

B-44-0196

B-44-0252

B-44-0253

B-44-0256

B-44-0257

B-44-0260

B-44-0261

B-44-0266B-44-0267

Bridge Inspection Agreement - Exhibit 2



Page 1 of 1 
https://cityofappleton-my.sharepoint.com/personal/blockdl_appleton_org/Documents/Municipal Services Committee/2023/05/2023.05.22/1619 Pauline Staff memo.docx 

 
MEMO 

 
To: Municipal Services Committee 
From: Danielle Block, P.E. Director of Public Works 
Date: May 17, 2023 
Re: 1619 Pauline Street – Terrace Occupancy Permit 
  
 
The resident at 1619 E. Pauline Street has applied for a Terrace Occupancy Permit to allow for an existing private 3’ 
fence to remain in the right-of-way/street terrace.  See the attached site photo. 
 
The recently updated City Street Terrace Policy allows requests to be made for consideration by the Municipal 
Services Committee and Common Council.  Any approved terrace occupancy permits require insurance and payment 
of an annual terrace occupancy permit fee, which is valid until December 31 of the year it is issued.   
 
Staff recommends approval of the Terrace Occupancy Permit.  All required documentation has been submitted by 
the resident. 

“. . .   meeting community needs . . .  enhancing quality of life.”  
DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 

100 North Appleton Street 
Appleton, WI  54911 
TEL  (920) 832-6474 
FAX  (920) 832-6489 









Danielle L. Block 

City Of Appleton 
100 N. Appleton Street 
Appleton, WI 54911 

Dear Ms. Block, 

Appleton Downtown, Inc., along with Creative Downtown Appleton, Inc., would like to host a 
sidewalk sale again this year during Downtown Creates on every third Friday from June through 
August 2023. The dates for these events are: 

Friday, June 16, 2023 
Friday, July 21, 2023 
Friday, August 18, 2023 

May 18, 2023 

We are requesting a Sidewalk Occupancy Permit to cover the amenity strip from 900 W. College 
Avenue through 300 E. College Avenue. Stores will set up in the amenity strip beginning at 
10-00 a.m. and will remove goods and supplies shortly after 8:00 p.m. We will not require any 
street closures for the sidewalk sales. 

Thank you for your consideration. 

Sincerely, 

Meghan Petters 
Administrative & Events Assistant 

Appleton Downtown, Inc. 



Ap
ple

ton
 

Do
wn

tow
n, Inc

. 
A

dm
in

is
tr

at
iv

e 

&
 

Ev
en

ts 

A
ss

is
ta

nt
 

Me
gh�h

 
Pet

ters
 S

inc
ere

ly,
 

Th
ank

 you for 
you

r 

co
ns

id
er

at
io

n.
 

str
ee

t 

cl
os

ur
es

 for the 

sid
ew

al
k 

sa
les

. 10
:00

 

a.m
. and will
 

rem
ov

e 

go
od

s and 

su
pp

lie
s 

sh
or

tly
 

aft
er 6:0
0 

p.m
. W

e 

will
 not 

req
uir

e any Av
en

ue
 

thr
ou

gh
 300 

E
. 

Co
lle

ge
 

Av
en

ue
. 

Sto
res

 will
 set up

 
in

 
the 

am
en

ity
 

stri
p 

be
gin

nin
g at

 W
e 

are 

re
qu

es
tin

g 

a 
Si

de
wa

lk 

Oc
cu

pa
nc

y 

Pe
rm

it to
 

cov
er the 

am
en

ity
 

stri
p 

from
 900 

W
. 

Co
lle

ge
 Su

nd
ay

, 

Au
gu

st 6,
 

202
3 

Sa
tur

da
y, 

aga
in this

 

yea
r, 

du
rin

g Mil
e 10

 

on: 

Do
wn

tow
n Inc

., 

alo
ng wit

h 

Cr
ea

tiv
e 

De
ar Ms. 

Bl
oc

k, Ap
ple

ton
, W

I 
549

11 
100 N

. 
Ap

ple
ton

 

Str
ee

t 

City
 O

f 
Ap

ple
ton

 
D

an
ie

lle
 L

. 
Bl

oc
k 

May 18
, 

202
3 

Au
gu

st 
5,

 
202

3 Fri
da

y, 

Au
gu

st 4,
 

202
3 Do

wn
tow

n 

Ap
ple

ton
 

InC
., 

wo
uld

 like
 to

 
hos

t a 
sid

ew
alk

 

sale
 

A
t 

the 

req
ue

st of
 

W
ille

ms
 

M
ark

eti
ng

, 

Mil
e of

 
Mu

sic and the 

do
wn

tow
n 

bu
sin

es
se

s, 

Ap
ple

ton
 





























___________

(Redacted)_

(Redacted)



____________

_____________

(Redacted)

(Redacted)

(Redacted)



REDACTED

REDACTED

5/24/2023

06/07/2023



REDACTED

REDACTED

05/24/2023



REDACTED

REDACTED

06/07/2023



REDACTED

05/24/2023

06/07/2023





2023-2024 RENEWALS 

CLASS “A” FERMENTED MALT BEVERAGE & “CLASS A” LIQUOR LICENSE 

 

NAME    TRADE NAME   ADDRESS 

Target Corporation   Target Store T-1248   1800 S Kensington Dr 

Sara Matusz, Agent, 521 Martin St DePere Wi 54115 

 

Tee Tees Nachos LLC  Tee Tees Nachos          550 N Morrison St Ste C 

Timasha Thornton, Agent, 500 S Pierce Ave Appleton WI 54914 

 

Tiffani’s Bridal & Consignment LLC Tiffani’s Bridal        210 W College Ave 2nd Fl 

Tiffani Ebben, Agent, W7234 School Rd Greenville WI 54942 

 

CLASS “B” FERMENTED MALT BEVERAGE LICENSE 

 

NAME    TRADE NAME   ADDRESS 

Fox Valley Athletics LLC                        1620 E Witzke Blvd-Jones Bldg 

L. Eric Schaefer, Agent, 1139 Honey Creek Cir Oshkosh WI 54904 

 

Tee Tees Nachos LLC  Tee Tees Nachos          550 N Morrison St Ste C 

Timasha Thornton, Agent, 500 S Pierce Ave Appleton WI 54914 

 

 

CLASS “B” FERMENTED MALT BEVERAGE LICENSE 

AND “CLASS C” WINE LICENSE 

 

NAME    TRADE NAME   ADDRESS 

Dog Lover Dawn Designs LLC    Board & Brush Creative Studio  109 N Durkee St  

Dawn C Smith, Agent, W3970 Devine Ln Appleton WI 54913 

 

 

CLASS “B” FERMENTED MALT BEVERAGE & “CLASS B” LIQUOR LICENSE  

 

NAME    TRADE NAME   ADDRESS 

Driftwood Special Servicing LLC  Appleton Hilton-Banquet Services 333 W College Ave 

Linda M. Garvey, Agent, 105 Alexander Dr Neenah WI 54956   

 

Driftwood Special Servicing LLC  Appleton Hilton-Blaze  333 W College Ave 

Linda M. Garvey, Agent, 105 Alexander Dr Neenah WI 54956  

 

Driftwood Special Servicing LLC Appleton Hilton- Clubhouse  333 W College Ave 

Linda M. Garvey, Agent, 105 Alexander Dr Neenah WI 54956   

 

Driftwood Special Servicing LLC  Appleton Hilton- Lombardi Bar  333 W College Ave 

Linda M. Garvey, Agent, 105 Alexander Dr Neenah WI 54956 

 



Calaveras Fine Fusions LLC  Calaveras Fine Fusions  511 W College Ave 

Rebekkah Garcia, Agent, 1033 Madison St, Little Chute WI 54140 

 

Cold Shot LLC   Cold Shot            633B W Wisconsin Ave 

Sherry Galow, Agent,525 N Division St Appleton WI 54911  

 

Driftwood Special Servicing LLC Fox Cities Exhibition Center  355 W Lawrence St 

Linda M. Garvey, Agent, 105 Alexander Dr Neenah WI 54956 

 

WHW Gastropub LLC  Meade Street Bistro   2729 N Meade St 

Daniel J. Hoff Sr., Agent, 225 E Wayfarer Ln Appleton WI 54913 

 

RH Events LLC   Poplar Hall              141 S Riverheath Way 

Nicole Burleson, Agent, 161 S Riverheath Way #212 Appleton WI 54915  

 

 

CLASS “B” FERMENTED MALT BEVERAGE & RESERVE “CLASS B” LIQUOR 

LICENSE 

 

NAME    TRADE NAME   ADDRESS 

Wise Restaurant Group  Christianos Pizza     2400 S Kensington Dr #500 

Paul J Wise, Agent, 561 S Waupaca St Wautoma WI 54982 

 

 
 









 

 

 

 

 

 

GENERAL INFORMATION___________________________________________________  _ 

Owner:  Northgate Five, LLC, Joe Vanevenhoven 

 

Applicant:  David Oshefsky, Newell Company, Inc. 

 

Address/Parcel #:  2701 North Oneida Street (Tax Id #31-6-7651-00) 

 

Petitioner’s Request:  The primary purpose of the use is axe throwing league play and axe throwing 

competitions. In addition, corporate team building events that begin at the Escape Room Wisconsin 

located in the adjacent tenant space followed up with axe throwing and a team building debrief.  In our 

Ashwaubenon location, we have found axe throwing is a great tool to appeal to a broader audience and 

get our customers gathered in a relaxed environment to unwind and review the success and challenges of 

the team building exercises. We would seek a Class “B” fermented beverage license to serve. 

 

BACKGROUND______________________________________________________________  _ 

This tenant space was most recently occupied by Bio-Medical Applications of Wisconsin. 

 

The building was constructed in 1980, and the property contains a multi-tenant building with an off-street 

parking lot.   

 

STAFF ANALYSIS____________________________________________________________  _ 

Project Summary:  The applicant proposes to establish an indoor commercial entertainment use (axe 

throwing facility) with alcohol sales and consumption on the subject site, which would occupy 

approximately 7,256 square feet of the existing multi-tenant building.   

 

Operational Information:  A plan of operation is attached to the staff report. 

 

Outdoor Seating Area:  No outdoor alcohol sales and consumption is requested with this application. 

 

Existing Site Conditions:  The existing multi-tenant building totals approximately 27,994 square feet, 

includes an 81-stall off-street parking lot.  Access is provided by curb cuts on North Onieda Street and 

North Appleton Street. 

 

 

REPORT TO CITY PLAN COMMISSION 

Plan Commission Public Hearing Date:  May 24, 2023 

 

Common Council Meeting Date:  June 7, 2023 

 

Item:  Special Use Permit #4-23 for an indoor commercial entertainment 

use with alcohol sales and consumption (Lumberjack Johnny’s, Axe 

Throwing) 

 

Case Manager:  Don Harp, Principal Planner 

Community  

and Economic 

Development 



Special Use Permit #4-23 

May 24, 2023 

Page 2 

 

 

Off-Street Parking Requirements: Section 23-172(m) of the Municipal Code requires a minimum 

number of off-street parking spaces based on the use of a property.  In this case, the property has 

historically functioned as a shopping center building, per Assessor’s Office records.  The proposal will 

not increase the gross floor area of the existing multi-tenant building.  Therefore, additional off-street 

parking spaces are not required for the applicant’s request. 

 

Current Zoning and Procedural Findings:  The subject property has a zoning designation of C-2 

General Commercial District.  Per Section 23-113(e) of the Municipal Code, an indoor commercial 

entertainment use with alcohol sales requires a Special Use Permit in the C-2 District.  The Plan 

Commission makes a recommendation to the Common Council who will make the final decision on the 

Special Use Permit.  A two-thirds vote of the Common Council is required for approval. 

 

Surrounding Zoning and Land Uses:  The surrounding area is under the jurisdiction of the City of 

Appleton (north, south, east, and west).  The uses are generally commercial and residential in nature. 

 

North: C-2 General Commercial District. The adjacent land uses to the north are a gas 

station/convenience store with retail alcohol and automotive repair shop. (Future land use map 

recommends Commercial for the adjacent properties.) 

 

South:   C-2 General Commercial District. The adjacent land use to the south is The Grand Meridian 

banquet/event center. (Future land use map recommends Commercial for the adjacent property.) 

 

East:  P-I Public Institutional District.  The adjacent land use to the east is St. Francis Xavier Middle 

School. (Future land use map recommends Public/Institutional for the adjacent property.) 

 

West:  R-1B Single-family Residential District.  The adjacent land uses to the west are currently single-

family residential. (Future land use map recommends Single/Two family for adjacent 

properties.) 

 

Appleton Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030:  Community and Economic Development staff has reviewed 

this proposal and determined it is compatible with the Commercial designation shown on the City’s 

Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030 Future Land Use Map.  Listed below are related excerpts from the City’s 

Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030. 

 

Goal 1 – Community Growth 

Appleton will continue to provide opportunities for residential, commercial, and industrial growth, 

including appropriate redevelopment sites within the downtown and existing neighborhoods, and 

greenfield development sites at the City's edge. 

 

Goal 8 – Economic Development 

Appleton will pursue economic development that retains and attracts talented people, brings good jobs to 

the area, and supports the vitality of its industrial areas, downtown, and neighborhood business districts. 

 

OBJECTIVE 9.4 Economic Development: 

Ensure the continued vitality of downtown and the City’s neighborhood commercial districts. 



Special Use Permit #4-23 

May 24, 2023 

Page 3 

 

 

Technical Review Group (TRG) Report:  This item appeared on the May 2, 2023 TRG agenda.  No 

negative comments were received from participating departments. 

 

Zoning Ordinance Requirements and Substantial Evidence:  When reviewing an application for a 

Special Use Permit, the City must determine if the applicant’s proposal satisfies Municipal Code 

requirements and conditions.  Pursuant to Section 23-66(c)(5) of the Municipal Code, the Plan 

Commission and Common Council must provide substantial evidence supporting their decision to 

approve, approve with conditions, or deny the Special Use Permit.  Substantial evidence means “facts and 

information, other than merely personal preferences or speculation, directly pertaining to the requirements 

and conditions an applicant must meet to obtain a Special Use Permit and that reasonable persons would 

accept in support of a conclusion.”  Any requirements and conditions listed for approval must be 

reasonable, and to the extent practicable, measurable. 

 

Findings of Fact:  This request was reviewed in accordance with the standards for granting a Special Use 

Permit under Section 23-66(e)(1-8) of the Municipal Code:  1. proper zoning district: C-2 zoning allows 

indoor entertainment uses with alcohol sales as a special use permit; 2. zoning district regulations: the 

district regulations appear to be satisfied pursuant to the attached development plan; 3. special 

regulations: stipulations 1, 2, 3 and 4 (below) address the special regulations for alcohol sales; 4. 

consistent with comprehensive plan and other plans: yes, see above analysis; 5. traffic: the proposed use 

is not expected to create undue traffic congestion, it is anticipated customers will utilize existing on-site 

parking spaces to park their cars; 6. landscaping and screening: not applicable to this use, changes to the 

existing parking are not being proposed with this request; 7. neighborhood compatibility with 

predominant land uses in this area: the proposed use is located near other existing commercial uses in 

this area of the City, the proposed alcohol service is anticipated to be ancillary and subordinate (i.e., an 

amenity for the customers) to the primary use as an indoor commercial entertainment facility for axe 

throwing; 8. impact on services: the City has existing utilities and services in place to serve this proposed 

use.  These standards were found in the affirmative, as long as all stipulations are satisfied.  

 

 

RECOMMENDATION________________________________________________________  _ 

Staff recommends, based on the above analysis, that Special Use Permit #4-23 for an indoor commercial 

entertainment use (axe throwing) with alcohol sales and consumption located at 2701 N. Oneida Street 

(Tax Id #31-6-7651-00) as shown on the attached maps and per attached plan of operation, along with the 

attached resolution, BE APPROVED to run with the land, subject to the following conditions: 

 

1. The applicant shall receive approval of a Liquor License from the City Clerk prior to serving 

alcohol on the premises. 

Substantial Evidence:  This condition provides notice to the applicant that a Liquor License is 

also needed prior to serving alcohol. 

 

2. The use shall conform to the standards established in Chapter 9, Article III, Alcoholic Beverages, 

of the Appleton Municipal Code. 

Substantial Evidence:  This condition is one of the special regulations included in Section 23-

66(h)(6) of the Zoning Ordinance for this particular use. 



Special Use Permit #4-23 

May 24, 2023 

Page 4 

 

 

3. The site shall be kept free of litter and debris. 

Substantial Evidence:  This condition is one of the special regulations included in Section 23-

66(h)(6) of the Zoning Ordinance for this particular use. 

 

4. All Zoning, Building, Fire, Engineering, Utility and other Municipal Codes (Article IV. Noise), 

and all applicable State and Federal laws shall be complied with. 

Substantial Evidence:  This condition is one of the special regulations included in Section 23-

66(h)(6) of the Zoning Ordinance for this particular use. 

 

5. The serving and consumption of alcohol is limited to the interior tenant space, as identified on the 

attached development plan and floor plan drawings.  Any future expansions for the serving and/or 

consumption of alcohol may require a major or minor amendment request to this Special Use 

Permit, pursuant to Section 23-66(g) of the Municipal Code. 

Substantial Evidence:  Standardized condition that establishes parameters for the current 

application and identifies the process for review of any future changes to the special use. 

 

6. Any expansions of the special use, changes to the development plan(s), plan of operation or any 

conditions of approval may require a major or minor amendment request to this Special Use 

Permit pursuant to Section 23-66(g) of the Zoning Ordinance.  Contact the Community and 

Economic Development Department to discuss any proposed changes. 

Substantial Evidence:  Standardized condition that establishes parameters for the current 

application and identifies the process for review of any future changes to the special use. 

 



6-2834 6-2834-1

6-
28

31

6-2832

6-
28

27

6-
28

28

6-
28

29

6-2833

6-
28

30

6-
28

01
6-

28
26

6-
28

38

6-
28

37

6-
28

36

6-1844
6-1843

6-2580

6-1837

6-1839

6-1838

6-2583

6-
28

40

6-
25

84
6-

27
88

6-
26

53

6-
26

57

6-
26

56

6-7654

6-2639

6-2630

6-7655

6-
27

15

6-7653

6-
27

16

6-
28

45

6-
27

18

6-
27

17

6-7660

6-
28

44

6-
26

59

6-
26

58

6-
28

50

6-
28

42

6-
28

43

6-
27

10

6-2638

6-
26

86
6-

26
87

6-
27

08

6-
27

06

6-
27

07

6-
26

84

6-
26

91
6-

26
82

6-
26

83

6-
26

90

6-
26

88

6-
26

85
6-

27
09

6-2636

6-
26

55

6-
26

54

6-
27

04

6-
27

05

6-
27

03
6-

26
94

6-
26

93

6-
26

92

6-
28

47

6-
28

48

6-
28

49

6-
27

13

6-
27

14

6-
27

12

6-
27

11

6-7652

6-7651-1

6-7651

6-
26

79

6-
26

80

6-
26

81

261 265 289 297293273 277 281

125107 117

112106 118

203

208

207

208

25
00 25

01
24

21

25
05

24
21

213225 219231

26
05

25
13

24
26

25
23

212218

215

224

225

230

231

212

215

220

225231

24
25

26
15

226 220232 214

26
41

25
14

25
06

25
07

26
10

26
00

26
24

26
10

26
09

26
02

26
01

26
15

26
21

26
26

27
01

300314 306

301313 307

300

306

305

312

313319

318

306

307

312318

319

201 109 105

200

C-2

P-I

R-1B

N
 O

N
E

ID
A

 S
T

E FIRST AV

N
 A

P
P

LE
T

O
N

 S
T

E MC ARTHUR ST

E NORTHLAND AVW NORTHLAND AV

N
 M

O
R

R
IS

O
N

 S
T

W FIRST AV

W PERSHING ST

W WEILAND AV

W MICHIGAN ST

RORK ALLEY

E GLENDALE AV
W GLENDALE AV

N
 M

E
A

D
E

 S
T

N
 R

IC
H

M
O

N
D

 S
T

W NORTHLAND AV

N
 O

N
E

ID
A

 S
T

E NORTHLAND AV

Special Use Permit
Indoor Commercial Entertainment

with Alcohol Sales
"Lumberjack Johnny's" Axe Throwing

2701 North Oneida Street
Vicinity Map

Subject
Area

City Plan Commission
5-24-2023

Subject Area

± 0 200 400100 Feet



6-7651

Special Use Permit
Indoor Commercial Entertainment with Alcohol Sales

"Lumberjack Johnny's" Axe Throwing
2701 North Oneida Street

Aerial Map

City Plan Commission
5-24-2023

Subject Area

± 0 50 10025

Feet



1 | P a g e  

 

CITY OF APPLETON 

RESOLUTION FOR SPECIAL USE PERMIT #4-23  

INDOOR COMMERCIAL ENTERTAINMENT USE WITH ALCOHOL SALES AND CONSUMPTION  

2701 NORTH ONEIDA STREET 

 

WHEREAS, David Oshefsky has applied for a Special Use Permit to establish an indoor commercial 

entertainment use (axe throwing) with alcohol sales and consumption, also identified as Parcel Number 31-6-

7651-00; and 

 

WHEREAS, the proposed indoor commercial entertainment use (axe throwing) with alcohol sales and 

consumption, is located in the C-2 General Commercial District, and the proposed use may be permitted by 

Special Use Permit within this zoning district pursuant to Chapter 23 of the Municipal Code; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Appleton Plan Commission held a public hearing on May 24, 2023 on Special Use 

Permit #4-23, at which all those wishing to be heard were allowed to speak or present written comments and 

other materials at the public hearing; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Appleton Plan Commission has reviewed and considered the Community and 

Economic Development Department’s staff report and recommendation, as well as other spoken and written 

evidence and testimony presented at the public hearing; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Appleton Plan Commission reviewed the standards for granting a Special Use Permit 

under Sections 23-66(e)(1-8) of the Municipal Code; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Appleton Plan Commission reviewed the standards for imposing conditions on the 

Special Use Permit under Section 23-66(c)(5) of the Municipal Code, and forwarded Special Use Permit #4-23 

to the City of Appleton Common Council with a   favorable conditional      or       not favorable      (CIRCLE 

ONE) recommendation; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Appleton Common Council has reviewed the report and recommendation of the City 

of Appleton Plan Commission at their meeting on June 7, 2023. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, DETERMINED AND ORDERED by the Common Council, 

based on Community and Economic Development Department’s staff report and recommendation, as well as 

other spoken and written evidence and testimony presented at the public hearing and Common Council meeting, 

and having considered the recommendation of the City Plan Commission, that the Common Council: 

 

1. Determines all standards listed under Sections 23-66(e)(1-8) of the Municipal Code are found in the 

affirmative     YES     or     NO      (CIRCLE ONE) 

 

2. If NO, the City of Appleton Common Council hereby denies Special Use Permit #4-23 for an indoor 

commercial entertainment use (axe throwing) with alcohol sales and consumption, also identified as Parcel 

Number 31-6-7651-00, based upon the following standards and determinations:  (List reason(s) why the 

Special Use Permit was denied) 

 

3. If YES, the City of Appleton Common Council hereby approves Special Use Permit #4-23 for an indoor 

commercial entertainment use (axe throwing) with alcohol sales and consumption, also identified as Parcel 



2 | P a g e  

 

Number 31-6-7651-00, to the following conditions as they are related to the purpose of the City of Appleton 

Municipal Code and based on substantial evidence: 

 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL FOR SPECIAL USE PERMIT #4-23: 

 

A. The applicant shall receive approval of a Liquor License from the City Clerk prior to serving alcohol on 

the premises. 

 

B. The use shall conform to the standards established in Chapter 9, Article III, Alcoholic Beverages, of the 

Appleton Municipal Code. 

 

C. The site shall be kept free of litter and debris. 

 

D. All Zoning, Building, Fire, Engineering, Utility and other Municipal Codes (Article IV. Noise) and all 

applicable State and Federal laws shall be complied with. 

 

E. The serving and consumption of alcohol is limited to the interior tenant space, as identified on the 

attached development plan and floor plan drawings.  Any future expansions for the serving and/or 

consumption of alcohol may require a major or minor amendment request to this Special Use Permit, 

pursuant to Section 23-66(g) of the Municipal Code. 

 

F. Any expansions of the special use, changes to the development plan(s), plan of operation or any 

conditions of approval may require a major or minor amendment request to this Special Use Permit 

pursuant to Section 23-66(g) of the Zoning Ordinance.  Contact the Community and Economic 

Development Department to discuss any proposed changes. 

 

4. The City Clerk’s Office is hereby directed to give a copy of this resolution to the owner/applicant, 

Community and Economic Development Department, Inspections Division, and any other interested party. 

 

 

Adopted this ______ day of ____________________________, 2023. 

 

 

 

        _____________________________________ 

        Jacob A. Woodford, Mayor  

ATTEST: 

 

 

_____________________________________ 

Kami Lynch, City Clerk 













1234

B

A

C

D

ESCAPE ROOM
(N.I.C.)

BOARDLANDIA
(N.I.C.)

COMMON
MECHANICAL
SPACE (N.I.C.)

6'
-0

"
12

'-9
"

27'-3 1/8" 3'-0" 6'-6" 6'-0" 3'-10" 6'-0" 3'-10" 6'-0" 3'-10" 6'-0" 40'-2 7/8"

18
'-0

"
6'

-0
"

3'
-8

"
9'

-0
"

3'
-1

0"
6'

-0
"

7 
7/

8"

9'
-0

"

6'-0"

1

AC03

12'-3"

22
'-1

 3
/8

"

21'-2 1/8"

22
'-6

 1
/8

"

69
'-8

"

NOT FOR 
CONSTRUCTION

ALLIANCEBUILDS.COM
PHONE: (920)-336-3400   |    FAX: (920)-336-3401
1050 BROADWAY ST., WRIGHTSTOWN, WI 54180

STATUS:

PROJECT NUMBER:

AXE THROWING TENANT

AC01

CONCEPTUAL EXISTING/
DEMO PLAN

CONCEPTUAL

23-039

1/8" = 1'-0"
1

CONCEPTUAL EXISTING/
DEMO PLAN

"THESE RENDERINGS ARE FOR ILLUSTRATIVE PURPOSES ONLY AND ARE NOT MEANT TO BE AN EXACT DEPICTION OF THE RENDITION 
SHOWN.  ANY RELIANCE ON THESE RENDERINGS SHALL BE AT THE USER'S SOLE RISK.  ALLIANCE CONSTRUCTION & DESIGN, INC. IS NOT 

RESPONSIBLE FOR ANY RELIANCE OR MISUSE OF THESE RENDERINGS AND/OR DAMAGES, CLAIMS, LOSSES OR LIABILITY THAT MAY RESULT."

TRUE



F.D.

F.D.

1234

B

A

C

D

COMMON
MECHANICAL
SPACE (N.I.C.)

ESCAPE ROOM
(N.I.C.)

BOARDLANDIA
(N.I.C.)

VEST.

BAR

3'
-0

"
15

'-0
" 

 (
T

Y
P

.)

12'-0"  (TYP.)

(7) THROWING
LANES

VIP ROOM
NEW ESCAPE

ROOM
LEAGUE ROOM

1

AC03

PINBALL MACHINES

P
IN

B
A

LL
 M

A
C

H
IN

E
S

/ A
R

C
A

D
E

 G
A

M
E

S

W R.R.

M R.R.

MECH.

DARTS

BAR STOCK
ROOM

(KITCHEN)

72" X 84"

36" X 84"36"x84" 36" X 84"

36"x84"

36"x84"

36"x84"

E.P. MOP 
SINK

W.H.

VERIFY ROOM/ 

MECHANICAL 
EQUIPMENT LOCATION

26'-0"

16'-0"

8'
-0

"
NOT FOR 

CONSTRUCTION
ALLIANCEBUILDS.COM
PHONE: (920)-336-3400   |    FAX: (920)-336-3401
1050 BROADWAY ST., WRIGHTSTOWN, WI 54180

STATUS:

PROJECT NUMBER:

AXE THROWING TENANT

AC02

CONCEPTUAL PLAN

CONCEPTUAL

23-039

"THESE RENDERINGS ARE FOR ILLUSTRATIVE PURPOSES ONLY AND ARE NOT MEANT TO BE AN EXACT DEPICTION OF THE RENDITION 
SHOWN.  ANY RELIANCE ON THESE RENDERINGS SHALL BE AT THE USER'S SOLE RISK.  ALLIANCE CONSTRUCTION & DESIGN, INC. IS NOT 

RESPONSIBLE FOR ANY RELIANCE OR MISUSE OF THESE RENDERINGS AND/OR DAMAGES, CLAIMS, LOSSES OR LIABILITY THAT MAY RESULT."

1/8" = 1'-0"
1

CONCEPTUAL FLOOR
PLAN

TRUE



10
'-0

"

NOT FOR 
CONSTRUCTION

ALLIANCEBUILDS.COM
PHONE: (920)-336-3400   |    FAX: (920)-336-3401
1050 BROADWAY ST., WRIGHTSTOWN, WI 54180

STATUS:

PROJECT NUMBER:

AXE THROWING TENANT

AC03

CONCEPTUAL SECTION

CONCEPTUAL

23-039

"THESE RENDERINGS ARE FOR ILLUSTRATIVE PURPOSES ONLY AND ARE NOT MEANT TO BE AN EXACT DEPICTION OF THE RENDITION 
SHOWN.  ANY RELIANCE ON THESE RENDERINGS SHALL BE AT THE USER'S SOLE RISK.  ALLIANCE CONSTRUCTION & DESIGN, INC. IS NOT 

RESPONSIBLE FOR ANY RELIANCE OR MISUSE OF THESE RENDERINGS AND/OR DAMAGES, CLAIMS, LOSSES OR LIABILITY THAT MAY RESULT."

1/4" = 1'-0"
1

TRANSVERSE BUILDING
SECTION



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

GENERAL INFORMATION___________________________________________________  _ 

Owner/Applicant:  SPG Investments, LLC, Sudhansh and Suyash Goel  

 

Address/Parcel #:  2811 East Newberry Street (Tax Id #31-4-5747-00) 

 

Petitioner’s Request: Establish a bar & grill with alcohol sales and consumption (serving liquor, wine, 

beer and food) inside an existing building formerly used as an auto maintenance garage (approximately 

1,550 sq. ft. floor area).     

 

BACKGROUND______________________________________________________________  _ 

The building was constructed in 1953, and the property contains Exxon Mobil Gas Station/Convenience 

Store with retail alcohol sales and an off-street parking lot.   The rear portion of the building was formerly 

used as an automobile maintenance garage. 

 

In 1994, the subject property was annexed from the Town of Buchanan to the City of Appleton.  

 

STAFF ANALYSIS____________________________________________________________  _ 

Project Summary:  The applicant proposes to establish a bar & grill with alcohol sales and consumption 

(serving liquor, wine, beer and food) inside an existing building formerly used as an automobile 

maintenance garage on the subject site, which would occupy approximately 1,550 square feet of the 

existing building.   

 

Operational Information:  A plan of operation is attached to the staff report. 

 

Proposed Indoor Seating Capacity:  30 persons per plan of operation.  

 

Outdoor Seating Area:  No outdoor alcohol sales and consumption is requested with this application. 

 

Existing Site Conditions:  The existing gas station/convenience store with retail alcohol sales totals 

approximately 2,020 square feet (per City Assessor records), 2 gas pumps serving 4 vehicles, includes a 

12-stall off-street parking lot.  The rear of the property has been used for outdoor storage of vehicles, 

trailers, trucks and random items.  Access is provided by curb cuts on East Newberry Street.  

REPORT TO CITY PLAN COMMISSION 

Plan Commission Public Hearing Date:  May 24, 2023 

 

Common Council Meeting Date:  June 7, 2023 

 

Item:  Special Use Permit #5-23 for a bar & grill with alcohol sales and 

consumption inside an existing building formerly used as an auto 

maintenance garage (approximately 1,550 sq. ft. floor area) at 2811 East 

Newberry Street   
 

Case Manager:  Don Harp, Principal Planner 

Community  

and Economic 

Development 



Special Use Permit #5-23 

May 24, 2023 

Page 2 

 

 

Off-Street Parking Requirements: Section 23-172(m) of the Municipal Code requires a minimum 

number of off-street parking spaces based on the use of a property.  Based on the existing convenience 

store and proposed bar & grill use, a total of 15 parking spaces would be required (1 space per 250 square 

feet of gross floor area) for multiple uses within a single building.  There are 12 existing parking spaces 

identified on the development plan drawing.   

 

The owner is proposing to construct 5 additional parking spaces to satisfy Section 23-172(m) of the 

Municipal Code.  Site Plan Review and Approval, in accordance with Section 23-570 of the Municipal 

Code, is required prior to construction of the 5 proposed parking spaces prior to the issuance of a paving 

permit.   

 

The subject property contains a historic lot line (annexed condition from the Town of Buchannan) and no 

formal platting documents have been recorded to officially combine the two parcels and eliminate the old 

parcel line. The existing paved parking lot and outdoor storage gravel parking area are bisected by this 

historic lot line. The proposed conversion of the outdoor storage gravel parking area to asphalt parking is 

not increasing the degree of the existing nonconformity regarding the minimum setback requirements 

from a lot line. Therefore, a Certified Survey Map to combine the historic lots into one lot is not needed 

as part of the Site Plan Review process.  

 

The existing building and gas pump canopy are not bisected by this historic lot line. However, future 

building/gas pump canopy additions or above ground buildings/structures that cross the historic lot line 

and/or encroach into required setbacks will require the submittal of a one-lot CSM to combine the historic 

parcels and create one parcel. 

 

Current Zoning and Procedural Findings:  The subject property has a zoning designation of C-2 

General Commercial District.  Per Section 23-113(e) of the Municipal Code, a bar & grill use with 

alcohol sales and consumption requires a Special Use Permit in the C-2 District.  The Plan Commission 

makes a recommendation to the Common Council who will make the final decision on the Special Use 

Permit.  A two-thirds vote of the Common Council is required for approval. 

 

Surrounding Zoning and Land Uses:  The surrounding area is under the jurisdiction of the City of 

Appleton (north, south, east, and west).  The uses are generally industrial, commercial and residential in 

nature. 

 

North: R-2 Two-family District. The adjacent land uses to the north are single and two family 

residential. (Future land use map recommends Single/Two family for adjacent properties) 

 

South:   M-2 General Industrial District and R-1A Single-family District. The adjacent land use to the 

south are Industrial warehouses and the Wisconsin Central Railroad. (Future land use map 

recommends Business/Industrial for this adjacent properties) 

 

East:  R-1A Single-family residential District.  The adjacent land use to the east is single-family 

residential. (Future land use map recommends Commercial for this adjacent property) 

 

 



Special Use Permit #5-23 

May 24, 2023 

Page 3 

 

 

West:  C-2 General Commercial District.  The adjacent land use to the west is currently single-family 

residential and excavation business. (Future land use map recommends Commercial for this 

adjacent property) 

 

Appleton Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030:  Community and Economic Development staff has reviewed 

this proposal and determined it is compatible with the Commercial designation shown on the City’s 

Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030 Future Land Use Map.  Listed below are related excerpts from the City’s 

Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030. 

 

Goal 1 – Community Growth 

Appleton will continue to provide opportunities for residential, commercial, and industrial growth, 

including appropriate redevelopment sites within the downtown and existing neighborhoods, and 

greenfield development sites at the City's edge. 

 

Goal 8 – Economic Development 

Appleton will pursue economic development that retains and attracts talented people, brings good jobs to 

the area, and supports the vitality of its industrial areas, downtown, and neighborhood business districts. 

 

OBJECTIVE 9.4 Economic Development: 

Ensure the continued vitality of downtown and the City’s neighborhood commercial districts. 

 

Technical Review Group (TRG) Report:  This item appeared on the May 2, 2023 TRG agenda.  

Comments from participating departments are identified in the “substantial evidence conditions of 

approval” section (below).  

 

Zoning Ordinance Requirements and Substantial Evidence:  When reviewing an application for a 

Special Use Permit, the City must determine if the applicant’s proposal satisfies Municipal Code 

requirements and conditions.  Pursuant to Section 23-66(c)(5) of the Municipal Code, the Plan 

Commission and Common Council must provide substantial evidence supporting their decision to 

approve, approve with conditions, or deny the Special Use Permit.  Substantial evidence means “facts and 

information, other than merely personal preferences or speculation, directly pertaining to the requirements 

and conditions an applicant must meet to obtain a Special Use Permit and that reasonable persons would 

accept in support of a conclusion.”  Any requirements and conditions listed for approval must be 

reasonable, and to the extent practicable, measurable. 

 

Substantial Evidence Conditions of Approval: 

 

• Section 23-40(a)(1) Application of district regulations, no structure or land shall hereafter be used 

or occupied, and no structure or part thereof shall hereafter be constructed, reconstructed or 

structurally altered expect in conformity with all of the regulations specified for the C-2 District 

with respect to this proposed use. (Relates to change of use from auto maintenance garage to bar & 

grill with alcohol sales and consumption) 

 

 

 



Special Use Permit #5-23 

May 24, 2023 

Page 4 

 

 

• Section 23-172(m) a total of 15 parking spaces would be required (1 space per 250 square feet of 

gross floor area) for multiple uses occupying one building. (Relates to change of use from auto 

maintenance garage to bar & grill with alcohol sales and consumption) 

• Section 23-570(c)(1)c. construction of less than 20 parking spaces requires minor site plan 

approval prior to the issuance of paving permit. Section 23-172(b)(2) parking lots and spaces shall 

be constructed and maintained in accordance with including but not limited to the applicable 

regulations of Article IX, Section 23-601, Landscaping and screening, on-site storm drainage 

(underground storm sewer connection to the lateral in Newberry Street) shall be provided in 

accordance with the State Plumbing Code, City Plumbing Code, and the City Stormwater 

Management Ordinance and Chapter 23 Zoning. (Relates to the construction of the 5 proposed 

parking spaces) 

• Per 1028.5 of the IFC and IBC, a direct and unobstructed access to a public way shall be provided 

from every exit.  The exit from the convenience store into the drive aisle poses an obstruction to 

the safe travel of people from the exit to the public way.  To remedy this, shift the drive aisle to 

the west and install two bollards outside of the exit to ensure safe pedestrian passage.  These 

bollards should be a minimum of 48” from the building to not create an impediment to egress. 

(See Exhibit A attached) (Relates to compliance with Fire Codes) 

 

• The Wisconsin Food Code requires plans to be repaired showing the layout of this proposed use 

including equipment, sinks, and finishing details. (Relates to change of use from auto maintenance 

garage to bar & grill with alcohol sales and consumption) 

 

Findings of Fact:  This request was reviewed in accordance with the standards for granting a Special Use 

Permit under Section 23-66(e)(1-8) of the Municipal Code:  1. proper zoning district: C-2 zoning allows a 

bar & grill with alcohol sales and consumption as a special use permit; 2. zoning district regulations: the 

district regulations appear to be satisfied pursuant to the attached development plan, formal verification of 

regulations being satisfied will occur during the Site Plan Review process per stipulation 4 (below); 3. 

special regulations: stipulations 1, 2, 3 and 4 (below) address the special regulations for alcohol sales and 

consumption; 4. consistent with comprehensive plan and other plans: yes, see above analysis; 5. traffic: 
the proposed use is not expected to create undue traffic congestion, it is anticipated customers will utilize 

existing and proposed on-site parking spaces to park their cars; 6. landscaping and screening: this will be 

reviewed during the Site Plan Review process per stipulation 4 (below); 7. neighborhood compatibility 

with predominant land uses in this area: the proposed use is located near other existing and future 

commercial/industrial uses in this area of City; 8. impact on services: the City has existing utilities and 

services in place to serve this proposed use.  These standards were found in the affirmative, as long as all 

stipulations are satisfied.  

 

RECOMMENDATION________________________________________________________  _ 

Staff recommends, based on the above analysis, that Special Use Permit #5-23 for a bar & grill with 

alcohol sales and consumption located at 2811 East Newberry Street (Tax Id #31-4-5747-00) as shown on 

the attached maps and per attached plan of operation, along with the attached resolution, BE 

APPROVED to run with the land, subject to the following conditions: 

 



Special Use Permit #5-23 

May 24, 2023 

Page 5 

 

 

1. The applicant shall receive approval of a Liquor License from the City Clerk prior to serving 

alcohol on the premises. 

Substantial Evidence:  This condition provides notice to the applicant that a Liquor License is 

also needed prior to serving alcohol. 

 

2. The use shall conform to the standards established in Chapter 9, Article III, Alcoholic Beverages, 

of the Appleton Municipal Code. 

a. The owner/applicants shall continue working with the City of Appleton Police Department 

staff to address Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design (CPTED) 

recommendations for this proposed use to enhance and maintain a safe environment for 

customers and community members. The CPTED recommendations will be reviewed 

during the minor site plan approval process for the parking lot expansion.  The City of 

Appleton Police Department staff will verify the CPTED recommendations are satisfied 

prior to the issuance of the liquor license.   

Substantial Evidence:  This condition is one of the special regulations included in Section 23-

66(h)(6) of the Zoning Ordinance for this particular use. 

 

3. The site shall be kept free of litter and debris. 

Substantial Evidence:  This condition is one of the special regulations included in Section 23-

66(h)(6) of the Zoning Ordinance for this particular use. 

 

4. All Zoning, Building, Fire, Engineering, Utility and other Municipal Codes (Article IV. Noise) 

and all applicable State and Federal laws shall be complied with, including but not limited to the 

following: 

 

a. Section 23-172(b)(2) parking lots and spaces shall be constructed and maintained in 

accordance with the applicable regulations of Article IX - Chapter 23 Zoning, including 

on-site storm drainage (underground storm sewer connection to the lateral in Newberry 

Street) shall be provided in accordance with the State Plumbing Code, City Plumbing 

Code, and the City Stormwater Management Ordinance. 

b. Section 23-172(m) a total of 15 parking spaces would be required (1 space per 250 square 

feet of gross floor area) for multiple uses occupying one building.  

c. Section 23-570(c)(1)c. construction of less than 20 parking spaces requires minor site plan 

approval prior to the issuance of paving permit per Chapter 23 Zoning.  

d. Section 1028.5 of the International Fire and Building Code shall be complied with, per 

Exhibit A attached.  

e. Section 23-601, Landscaping and screening shall be complied with.  

f. Wisconsin Food Code plans shall be repaired to show the layout of this proposed use 

including equipment, sinks, and interior finishing details.  

Substantial Evidence:  This condition is one of the special regulations included in Section 23-

66(h)(6) of the Zoning Ordinance for this particular use. 



Special Use Permit #5-23 

May 24, 2023 

Page 6 

 

 

5. The serving and consumption of alcohol is limited to the interior tenant space, as identified on the 

attached development plan and floor plan drawings.  Any future expansions for the serving and/or 

consumption of alcohol may require a major or minor amendment request to this Special Use 

Permit, pursuant to Section 23-66(g) of the Municipal Code. 

Substantial Evidence:  Standardized condition that establishes parameters for the current 

application and identifies the process for review of any future changes to the special use. 

 

6. Any expansions of the special use, changes to the development plan(s), plan of operation or any 

conditions of approval may require a major or minor amendment request to this Special Use 

Permit pursuant to Section 23-66(g) of the Zoning Ordinance.  Contact the Community and 

Economic Development Department to discuss any proposed changes. 

Substantial Evidence:  Standardized condition that establishes parameters for the current 

application and identifies the process for review of any future changes to the special use. 



4-5198

4-5155

4-5160

4-
57

46

4-
57

47

4-
57

48

4-
57

49

4-
57

33

4-5731

4-5744

4-5732

4-
42

57
-1

4-
42

57

4-3715

4-3716

4-3717

4-3718

4-5157

4-5156

4-5158

4-5173

4-5164

4-5162

4-5163

4-3719

4-
37

83

4-4051

4-5197

4-5199

4-
43

17

4-4310

4-4309

4-4308

4-
42

55

4-
42

56

4-3721

4-3722

4-5712

4-4270

4-4306

4-4307

4-
43

11

4-
43

13

4-
43

15

4-5159-1

4-5161

4-5154

4-5153

4-5152

4-5159

4-5172

4-3720

4-
37

254-
37

26

4-4305

4-
42

52

4-4251

4-
42

53

4-
42

54

4-4268

4-42664-4269

4-4265

4-4271

4-4246

4-4247

4-4248

4-4267

4-4249

4-4245

4-4264

4-42634-4272

4-4273 4-4262

4-4286

4-4287

4-4285

4-4284

4-4288
4-4283

4-4289

4-4282

4-4290

4-4250

4-
37

36

4-5705

4-5700-3

4-4304

4-4303

4-4302

4-3724

16

10
1-

03 10
0

10

11

15

15

11

40
1

31
7-

19

35

40
0

27
19

19

18

2601

2609-11

2825

2811

2719

2720

3001

2709.5
2709

43

5-7

3000

3007

3010

20
28

32
36

40
9

41
224

400

4074
15

40
6

41
2

412

413-15

51
1

51
7

65
51

41
7

50
1

50
7

41
8

50
0

51
3

50
8

43
6

50
0

50
1

50
8

50
9

51
6

51
7

59

71

418 424

43
0

431

77

2520-22

2515

2608

2700

2814-16

2828-30

2906

2920
3000-02 3008-10

3016-18

50
1

2708-10

7

23
31

35
27

39
43

31
6

C-2

C-2

M-1

M-2

PD/R-2

R-1A

R-1B

R-2

R-2

R-2

R-3

R-3

R-1B

R-1B

E NEWBERRY ST

N
 W

H
IT

E
 O

A
K

 D
R

E CARDINAL PL

LY
N

N
 D

R

N C
AMELLIA LA

N
 L

IN
D

E
N

 L
AE COLLEGE AV

N
 K

E
N

S
IN

G
T

O
N

 D
R

E NEWBERRY ST

CE

441

Special Use Permit
Proposed Bar (approx. size 1,550 s.f.)

2811 E Newberry Street
Vicinity Map

Subject
Area

City Plan Commission
5-24-2023

Subject Area

± 0 200 400100 Feet



E NEWBERRY ST
Special Use Permit

Proposed Bar (approx. size 1,550 s.f.)
2811 E Newberry Street

Aerial Map

City Plan Commission
5-24-2023

Subject Area

± 0 50 10025

Feet



1 | P a g e  

 

CITY OF APPLETON 

RESOLUTION FOR SPECIAL USE PERMIT #5-23  

BAR & GRILL WITH ALCOHOL 

2811 EAST NEWBERRY STREET 

 

WHEREAS, Sudhansh Goel, Newberry Bar & Grill has applied for a Special Use Permit to establish a bar & 

grill with alcohol sales and consumption located at 2811 East Newberry Street, also identified as Parcel Number 

31-4-5747-00; and 

 

WHEREAS, the proposed bar & grill with alcohol sales and consumption is located in the C-2 General 

Commercial District, and the proposed use may be permitted by Special Use Permit within this zoning district 

pursuant to Chapter 23 of the Municipal Code; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Appleton Plan Commission held a public hearing on May 24, 2023 on Special Use 

Permit #5-23, at which all those wishing to be heard were allowed to speak or present written comments and 

other materials at the public hearing; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Appleton Plan Commission has reviewed and considered the Community and 

Economic Development Department’s staff report and recommendation, as well as other spoken and written 

evidence and testimony presented at the public hearing; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Appleton Plan Commission reviewed the standards for granting a Special Use Permit 

under Sections 23-66(e)(1-8) of the Municipal Code; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Appleton Plan Commission reviewed the standards for imposing conditions on the 

Special Use Permit under Section 23-66(c)(5) of the Municipal Code, and forwarded Special Use Permit #5-23 

to the City of Appleton Common Council with a   favorable conditional      or       not favorable      (CIRCLE 

ONE) recommendation; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Appleton Common Council has reviewed the report and recommendation of the City 

of Appleton Plan Commission at their meeting on June 7, 2023. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, DETERMINED AND ORDERED by the Common Council, 

based on Community and Economic Development Department’s staff report and recommendation, as well as 

other spoken and written evidence and testimony presented at the public hearing and Common Council meeting, 

and having considered the recommendation of the City Plan Commission, that the Common Council: 

 

1. Determines all standards listed under Sections 23-66(e)(1-8) of the Municipal Code are found in the 

affirmative     YES     or     NO      (CIRCLE ONE) 

 

2. If NO, the City of Appleton Common Council hereby denies Special Use Permit #5-23 for a bar & grill with 

alcohol sales and consumption located at 2811 East Newberry Street, also identified as Parcel Number 31-4-

5747-00, based upon the following standards and determinations:  (List reason(s) why the Special Use 

Permit was denied) 

 

3. If YES, the City of Appleton Common Council hereby approves Special Use Permit#5-23 for a bar & grill 

with alcohol sales and consumption located at 2811 East Newberry Street, also identified as Parcel Number 



2 | P a g e  

 

31-4-5747-00, subject to the following conditions as they are related to the purpose of the City of Appleton 

Municipal Code and based on substantial evidence: 

 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL FOR SPECIAL USE PERMIT #5-23: 

 

A. The applicant shall receive approval of a Liquor License from the City Clerk prior to serving alcohol on 

the premises. 

 

B. The use shall conform to the standards established in Chapter 9, Article III, Alcoholic Beverages, of the 

Appleton Municipal Code. 

 

1) The owner/applicants shall continue working with the City of Appleton Police Department staff 

to address Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design (CPTED) recommendations for this 

proposed use to enhance and maintain a safe environment for customers and community 

members. The CPTED recommendations will be reviewed during the minor site plan approval 

process for the parking lot expansion.  The City of Appleton Police Department staff will verify 

the CPTED recommendations are satisfied prior to the issuance of the liquor license.   

 

C. The site shall be kept free of litter and debris. 

 

D. All Zoning, Building, Fire, Engineering, Utility and other Municipal Codes (Article IV. Noise) and all 

applicable State and Federal laws shall be complied with, including but not limited to the following: 

 

1) Section 23-172(b)(2) parking lots and spaces shall be constructed and maintained in accordance 

with the applicable regulations of Article IX - Chapter 23 Zoning, including on-site storm 

drainage (underground storm sewer connection to the lateral in Newberry Street) shall be 

provided in accordance with the State Plumbing Code, City Plumbing Code, and the City 

Stormwater Management Ordinance. 

 

2) Section 23-172(m) a total of 15 parking spaces would be required (1 space per 250 square feet of 

gross floor area) for multiple uses occupying one building.  

 

3) Section 23-570(c)(1)c. construction of less than 20 parking spaces requires minor site plan 

approval prior to the issuance of paving permit per Chapter 23 Zoning.  

 

4) Section 1028.5 of the International Fire Code and International Fire Code shall be complied with, 

per Exhibit A attached.  

 

5) Section 23-601, Landscaping and screening shall be complied with.  

 

6) Wisconsin Food Code plans shall be repaired to show the layout of this proposed use including 

equipment, sinks, and interior finishing details.  

 

 



3 | P a g e  

 

E. The serving and consumption of alcohol is limited to the interior tenant space, as identified on the 

attached development plan and floor plan drawings.  Any future expansions for the serving and/or 

consumption of alcohol may require a major or minor amendment request to this Special Use Permit, 

pursuant to Section 23-66(g) of the Municipal Code. 

 

F. Any expansions of the special use, changes to the development plan(s), plan of operation or any 

conditions of approval may require a major or minor amendment request to this Special Use Permit 

pursuant to Section 23-66(g) of the Zoning Ordinance.  Contact the Community and Economic 

Development Department to discuss any proposed changes. 

 

4. The City Clerk’s Office is hereby directed to give a copy of this resolution to the owner/applicant, 

Community and Economic Development Department, Inspections Division, and any other interested party. 

 

 

Adopted this ______ day of ____________________________, 2023. 

 

 

 

        _____________________________________ 

        Jacob A. Woodford, Mayor  

ATTEST: 

 

 

_____________________________________ 

Kami Lynch, City Clerk 















EXHIBIT A

hensondj
Ellipse

hensondj
Ellipse

hensondj
Line

hensondj
Line

hensondj
Callout
Bollards min. 48" from building

hensondj
Callout
Relocated 24' drive aisle



 

 

 

 

 

GENERAL INFORMATION____________________________________________________ 

Owner:  James Feeney, President of Meade Pond Condominium Association, on behalf of all property 

owners of the Meade Pond Condominium Association   

 

Applicant:  Gary Zahringer, PLS – Martenson & Eisele, Inc. 

 

Addresses:  806, 812, 813, 818, 819, 824, 825, 830, 831, 836, 837, 842, 843, 900, 901, 906, 907, 912, 

913, 918, 919, 924, 925, 930, 931, 936, 937, and 940 Pondview Court  

 

Parcel Numbers:  31-1-8200-01 through 31-1-8200-28 

 

BACKGROUND_______________________________________________________________ 

The subject property was annexed into the City in 1998, pursuant to the Meade Street Annexation.  

 

On March 7, 2001, the Meade Pond, L.L.C. Planned Development PD Overlay District #1-01 (PD 

Overlay District #1-01) was approved by the Common Council. The subject property was rezoned from 

R-1A One-family District to PD/R-1B Planned Development One-family District.  The purpose of the 

Planned Development Rezoning was to allow for the construction of twenty-eight (28) single-family 

detached dwelling units by condominium plat with customized development regulations unique to this 

development.  The customized development regulations approved under PD Overlay District #1-01 

allowed for specific land uses, development and density standards, design guidelines and ordinance 

exceptions to promote an integrated development that maximized the use of the property.   

 

On March 29, 2001, Certified Survey Map No. 4009 was recorded in Outagamie County Register of 

Deeds’ Office.  The subject property is currently described as Lot 2 of Certified Survey Map No. 4009. 

 

On July 19, 2001, Implementation Plan Document PD Overlay District PD #1-01 was recorded in the 

Outagamie County Register of Deeds’ Office, a/k/a Document No. 1417611.  

  

On March 8, 2023, PD Overlay District #1-01 amendments and the Preliminary Plat for The Villas at 

Meade Pond were recommended for approval by the Plan Commission.  

 

On April 5, 2023, PD Overlay District #1-01 amendments and the Preliminary Plat for The Villas at 

Meade Pond were approved by the Common Council. In addition to Implementation Plan Document No. 

1417611, the amendments to the PD Overlay District will serve as the development regulations, once 

recorded in the Outagamie County Register of Deeds Office.   

REPORT TO CITY PLAN COMMISSION 

Plan Commission Meeting Date:  May 24, 2023 

Common Council Meeting Date:  June 7, 2023  

Item:  Final Plat – The Villas at Meade Pond 

Case Manager:  Don Harp, Principal Planner 

    Community and 

    Economic 

   Development 



Final Plat – The Villas at Meade Pond 

May 24, 2023 

Page 2 

 

 

STAFF ANALYSIS_____________________________________________________________ 

Existing Conditions:  The subject site consists of 28 single-family detached condominium units, 1 

neighborhood sign and 1 detention pond.  All said improvements are located on Lot 2 of Certified Survey 

Map No. 4009. 

 

Proposed Conditions:  The Final Plat for The Villas at Meade Pond subdivides Lot 2 of Certified Survey 

Map No. 4009 into 28 individual lots and 3 outlots.  The outlots will be owned and maintained by the 

Homeowners’ Association (HOA), per discussions with representatives from the Meade Pond 

Condominium Association. 

 

Comparison Between Final Plat and Preliminary Plat:  The Final Plat is consistent with the 

Preliminary Plat layout in terms of the shape, size, building setback dimensions, and location of the lot 

lines.   

 

Zoning Ordinance Review Criteria:  The development standards prescribed by Implementation Plan 

Document PD #1-01, Document No. 1417611 and the Amended Implementation Plan Document PD #1-

01.  

 

• Minimum lot area (Lots 1-28):  5,500 square feet minimum. 

 

o All lots described above comply with this minimum requirement. 

 

• Minimum lot width (Lots 1-28):  38 feet minimum. 

 

o All lots described above comply with this minimum requirement.  

 

• Minimum front, side and rear yard setbacks:   
 

Yard Lot Numbers Minimum Building Setback Dimension (Per PD Overlay District #1-01) 

Front Lots 1-28 & 

Outlot 3 

20 feet 

Front Outlots 1 and 2 None, unless required by applicable regulations per Chapter 23, Zoning 

Side  Lots 1-5, 7-28 & 

Outlot 3 

4.5 feet, including decks 

Side  Lot 6 4.5 feet, including 2.85 feet for deck 

Side Lot 10 None, for concrete patio 

Side  Outlots 1 and 2 None, unless required by applicable regulations per Chapter 23, Zoning 

Rear  Lots 1-15 & 

Outlot 3 

11 feet, including decks 

Rear Lot 16 6 feet, including decks 

Rear Lots 17-19 15 feet, including decks 

Rear Lots 20-24 13 feet, including decks 

Rear Lots 25-28 25 feet, including decks 

Rear Outlots 1 and 2 None, unless required by applicable regulations per Chapter 23, Zoning 

 

o All buildings, decks, concrete patios, and other accessory structures illustrated on the final 

plat appear to comply with minimum requirements listed above.  



 

Final Plat – The Villas at Meade Pond 

May 24, 2023 

Page 3 

 

 

• Maximum lot coverage (Lots 1-28 and Outlots 1-3): 65% maximum. 

 

o All lots described above comply with this requirement.  

 

Compliance with the Appleton Subdivision Regulations:  This subdivision complies with the Appleton 

Subdivision Regulations.  As stated in the staff report for the preliminary plat, there is small deviation in 

the proposed side lot line between Lot 9 and Lot 10, this deviation did not warrant a modification request 

because the intersecting portion of the side lot line is at a right angle to the right-of-way line.  This 

deviation in the lot line occurs at the rear of said lots due to the existing location of site improvements on 

Lot 10.   The configuration of both Lots shown on the Final Plat are consistent with the Preliminary Plat.  

 

Access and Traffic:  The primary vehicular access to the development is by Pondview Court.  The 50-

foot road right-of-way width was dedicated to the public by Certified Survey Map No. 4009.  

 

Surrounding Zoning and Land Uses: 

 

North:  PD/R-1B Planned Development Single-Family District – City Stormwater Pond 

 South:  R-1A Single-Family District – residential uses 

 East: Town of Grand Chute – residential uses 

 West: R-1A Single-Family District – residential uses  

 

Appleton Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030:  Community and Economic Development staff has reviewed 

this proposal and determined it is compatible with the One and Two-Family Residential designation 

shown on the City’s Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030 Future Land Use Map.  Listed below are related 

excerpts from the City’s Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030. 

 

Goal 1 – Community Growth 

Appleton will continue to provide opportunities for residential, commercial, and industrial growth, 

including appropriate redevelopment sites within the downtown and existing neighborhoods, and 

greenfield development sites at the City's edge. 

 

Goal 3 – Housing Quality, Variety, and Affordability 

Appleton will provide a variety of rental and ownership housing choices in a range of prices affordable to 

community residents, and ensure that existing housing is adequately maintained in terms of physical 

quality and market viability. 

 

OBJECTIVE 5.1: Continue efforts to ensure an adequate supply of housing affordable to all income levels 

in the community. 

OBJECTIVE 5.3 Housing and Neighborhoods: 

Provide a range of housing options that meet the needs and appeal to all segments of the community and 

allows residents to age in place. 

Policy 5.3.3  Plan for a supply of developable land suitable for residential development. 

 

 



 

Final Plat – The Villas at Meade Pond 

May 24, 2023 

Page 4 

 

 

OBJECTIVE 10.1 Land Use:  

Provide an adequate supply of suitable land meeting the demand for development of various land uses. 

 

OBJECTIVE 10.4 Land Use: 

Plan for compact, efficient, and fiscally responsible growth of residential, commercial, and industrial 

development in new neighborhoods in order to implement the principles of smart growth. 

Policy 10.4.1  Continue to guide residential growth to locations either contiguous to or within 

presently urbanized areas.  As peripheral development occurs, it should be at a compact, urban 

density to ensure new neighborhoods can be efficiently served by public infrastructure. 

 

Park Fees or Dedication of Public Parks and Other Public Sites:  In 2001, park fees of $4,200 (28 

dwelling units x $150.00) in lieu of dedication requirements were paid by the developer pursuant to 

receipt #1709628 associated with Certified Survey Map No. 4009.  No additional dwelling unit sites are 

being created with this final plat.  Therefore, the recent amendments made to Section 17-29 dedication of 

public parks and other public sites of the Municipal Code do not apply to this final plat.  

 

Technical Review Group (TRG) Report:  This item appeared on the May 2, 2023 TRG agenda.  

Comments from participating departments are identified as conditions of approval. 

 

RECOMMENDATION_________________________________________________________ 

 

The Final Plat for The Villas at Meade Pond, BE APPROVED subject to the following conditions and as 

shown on the attached maps: 

 

1. Section 17-12(23) add information on the ownership of, use of, or restrictions on Outlots 1, 2, and 

3 to the notes section of the Final Plat, prior to City signatures being affixed to the Final Plat.   

  

2. Section 17-12(c) The legal instruments creating a property owners association for the ownership 

and/or maintenance of common lands in the subdivision shall be filed with the Final Plat, prior to 

City signatures being affixed to the Final Plat. 

 

3. On Sheet 3 of 8, remove the references to the term “resolution” in the Common Council Certificate.  

• The current subdivision ordinance does not require a resolution to approval a final plat.  

 

4. All requirements from the City of Appleton Department of Public Works, Engineering Division 

shall be met to the satisfaction of the City Engineer prior to the City affixing signatures on the 

Final Plat. 

   

5. Prior to City signatures being affixed to the Final Plat, the Amended Implementation Plan 

Document for PD Overlay District #1-01 must be signed by all property owners and then be 

submitted to the City along with the Final Plat.  Record the Final Plat subsequent to the Amended 

Implementation Plan Document in the Outagamie County Register of Deeds’ Office.   

 

 



 

Final Plat – The Villas at Meade Pond 

May 24, 2023 

Page 5 

 

 

6. The Development Agreement, dated March 23, 2001, will need to be amended between the City 

and the future Homeowners’ Association pursuant to Section 3.04B of the current Development 

Agreement to formalize the specific maintenance obligations for the City pond located north of 

The Villas at Meade Pond plat prior to the City affixing signatures on the Final Plat.   

 

7. The Final Plat shall be recorded within 12 months from the approval date of the last approving 

authority and within 36 months from the approval date of the first approving authority.  Failure to 

do so requires the subdivider to recommence the entire procedure for Final Plat approval. 
 



6-5823

6-5823-1

1-
82

00
-2

5

1-
82

00
-2

6

1-
82

00
-2

7

1-8200

1-
82

00
-1

1-
82

00
-2

1-
82

00
-3

1-
82

00
-4

1-
82

00
-5

1-
82

00
-6

1-
82

00
-7

1-
82

00
-8

1-
82

00
-9

1-8200-10

1-8200-11

1-
82

00
-1

4

1-
82

00
-1

5

1-8200-19

1-8200-20

1-8200-21

1-
82

00
-2

8

1-8220-2

1-8220-1

1-8222

1-8220-4

1-8220

1-8220-3

1-8200-24

1-8200-22

1-8200-23
1-

82
00

-1
3

1-8200-12

1-8221 1-8221-1

1-8200-16

1-8200-171-8200-18

1000

49
33

51
05

50
14

50
00

49
38

49
28

824

818

92
5

937

93
1

919
843

837

831

825

819

813

812806

49
39

50
15

50
05

830
836

842 900 906

901 907 913

91
2

92
4

930
936 940

91
8

P-I

PD/R-1B

R-2

R-1A

E EDGEWOOD DR

APPLE
 C

REEK R
D

N
 M

E
A

D
E

 S
T

E PONDVIEW CT

H
A

Y
M

E
A

D
O

W
 A

V

A
P

P
LE

 C
R

E
E

K
 R

D

E EDGEWOOD DR

N
 M

E
A

D
E

 S
T

N
 H

A
Y

M
E

A
D

O
W

 A
V

Final Plat
The Villas at Meade Pond

Vicinity MapSubject
Area

City Plan Commission
5-24-2023

Subject Area

± 0 200 400100 Feet



6-5823

6-5823-1

6-5822-1

6-5822

1-
82

00
-2

5

1-
82

00
-2

6

1-
82

00
-2

7

1-8200

1-
82

00
-1

1-
82

00
-2

1-
82

00
-3

1-
82

00
-4

1-
82

00
-5

1-
82

00
-6

1-
82

00
-7

1-
82

00
-8

1-
82

00
-9

1-8200-10

1-8200-11

1-
82

00
-1

4

1-
82

00
-1

5

1-8200-19

1-8200-20

1-8200-21

1-
82

00
-2

8

6-6100-49

1-8220-2

1-8220-1

1-8220

1-8220-3

1-8200-24

1-8200-22

1-8200-23

1-
82

00
-1

3

1-8200-12

1-8221 1-8221-1

1-8200-16

1-8200-171-8200-18

51
05

50
14

50
00

824

818

92
5

937

93
1

919
843

837

831

825

819

813

715

812806

49
39

50
15

50
05

830
836

842 900 906

901 907 913

91
2

92
4

930
936 940

91
8

E SIERRA LA

E EDGEWOOD DR

N
 M

E
A

D
E

 S
T

E PONDVIEW CT

Final Plat
The Villas at Meade Pond

Aerial Map

City Plan Commission
5-24-2023

Subject Area

± 0 250 500125

Feet



















  
 

 
“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 
 
 
 

TO:  Finance Committee 
   
FROM: Jeri A. Ohman, Finance Director 
   
DATE: May 22, 2023 
 
RE:  Request approval of HazMat budget amendment  
 
 
 
 
 
The 2022 Hazardous Materials budget included the purchase of a 2008 Ford F550 from CEA in 
the amount of $22,040.  The purchase did not occur in 2022 as expected and was delayed until 
2023.  The 2023 budget amendments below are to account for the purchase: 
 
 Hazardous Materials Fund 
 Vehicles   + $22,040 
 Fund Balance Applied + $22,040 
 
 Central Equipment Agency Fund 
 Sale of City Property  + $22,040 
 Trans Out – Capital Projects + $22,040  
 
 
A copy of the memorandum to the CEA Review Committee related to the purchase follows. 
 
Thank you for your consideration of these budget adjustments.  As always, feel free to contact 
me if you have questions. 





 

 
 

“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 

PARKS, RECREATION & FACILITIES 

MANAGEMENT 

Dean R. Gazza, Director 

1819 East Witzke Boulevard 

Appleton, Wisconsin 54911-8401 

(920) 832-5572  FAX (920) 993-3103 

Email - dean.gazza@appleton.org 

 

TO:  Finance Committee 
 

FROM: Dean R. Gazza 
 

DATE:  5/22/2023 
 

RE: Action:  Award the City of Appleton’s “2023 Masonry Repairs Project” contract to 

Masonry Restoration, Inc. in the amount of $162,675 with a contingency of $15,000 

for a project total not to exceed $177,675.   

 

The 2023 Wastewater Treatment Plant operations budget includes $325,000 for painting, 

remediating asbestos, crack sealing, and exterior masonry repairs. The exterior masonry repairs 

project is to replace damaged bricks and repair other building envelope deficiencies across the 

AWWTP complex. The project will include replacing damaged bricks, repairing cracked 

foundations, patching holes, replacing mortar, and sealing joints. Every building at the AWWTP 

complex will be affected by this project. The recommendations for repairs were compiled by our 

consulting engineer after a building envelope audit was completed in 2019. 

 

The bids were received as follows: 

 

Masonry Restoration, Inc. (low bid)  $162,675 

Quality Building and Restoration   $169,000 

Berglund Construction    $250,000 

 

Our consulting engineer has written the City of Appleton a formal letter of recommendation to 

award the contract to Masonry Restoration, Inc. The Parks, Recreation, and Facilities Management 

Department has also reviewed the bids and is in agreement with the engineer’s recommendation. 

Therefore, we recommend awarding the contract to Masonry Restoration, Inc. in the amount of 

$162,275 plus a contingency of $15,000 only to be utilized as needed. 

 

Please contact me at 832-5572 or at dean.gazza@appleton.org with any questions. 

mailto:dean.gazza@appleton.org
mailto:dean.gazza@appleton.org


  

 
 

“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 

 

 

 

TO:  Finance Committee 

   

FROM: Jeri A. Ohman, Finance Director 

   

DATE: May 22, 2023 

 

RE:  Request to approve cash advance from Stormwater Utility Fund to Wastewater 

Utility Fund in an amount not to exceed $3,000,000 to replace issuance of long 

term revenue bonds in 2023.  

 

 

 

The 2023 Wastewater Utility budget includes the issuance of revenue bonds in the amount of 

$9,500,000.  In reviewing the timing of the projects, it was determined that only $3,000,000 

would be needed in 2023 and the remaining amount could be held until 2024.  City staff 

consulted with Baird, the City’s debt advisor, and was offered alternatives to issuing revenue 

bonds for the reduced amount.  These options include: 

 

- Issue a short term note anticipation note (NAN) with estimated costs of approximately 

$24,000. 

- Use existing cash funds.  Currently the Stormwater Utility Fund has cash funds available 

to advance to the Wastewater Utility Fund.  Staff will monitor the cash needs of the 

Wastewater Utility and advance amounts as needed until the revenue bonds are issued in 

2024. 

 

The 2024 revenue bond issue will include the 2024 needs and the amount needed to repay any 

2023 short term advance.  Staff is recommending moving forward with the advance between the 

utility funds.  Thank you for your consideration of this funding option.  As always, feel free to 

contact me if you have questions. 



 

 

 

 

 

TO: Community and Economic Development Committee (CEDC) 

  

FROM: Kara Homan, AICP, Director of Community & Economic Development  

  

DATE: May 18, 2023 

RE: Request Approval of the Development Agreement between the City of Appleton and Fox 

Commons Properties, LLC 

 

Fox Commons Properties, LLC (Developer) is requesting assistance to support their proposed transformation 

of City Center Plaza into a mixed-use center (Fox Commons) comprised of housing, supportive services, 

healthcare, retail and commercial businesses uses.  Exhibit B of the proposed Development Agreement 

illustrates conceptual façade renderings for the “Fox Commons” project.  When complete, the project will 

serve as a catalyst to transform the City’s downtown district, and spur on additional reinvestment in the heart 

of the City of Appleton.  Said project, and corresponding development agreement, is in alignment with the 

City’s Comprehensive Plan (in particular, Chapter 14: Downtown Plan), and College North Neighborhood 

Plan. 

 

The proposed project would be on the following parcel zoned CBD Central Business District: 31‐2-0290-01. 

 

The cost of the project is stated at $33.6 million.  The City Assessor estimates the assessed value of the project 

once completed to be $17.3 million.  The differential in construction cost versus assessed value is primarily 

caused by a future owner of Condominium Unit 2 (~35,000 sq. ft.) of the proposed condominium non-

profit/tax exempt entity.  Sections 3.1 and 3.3 of the agreement mitigate any future financial risk to the City 

should there be any conversion to future tax exempt status within the project, beyond Unit 2. 

 

Developer requests Pay-As-You-Go TIF support, constituting a total revenue stream of $4,357,550 over time.  

Based on the analysis of current value of the property, projected value of the property, and review of proposed 

expenses, TIF District #11 would invest ninety percent (90%) of the annual increment created (an estimated 

value of ~$301,500 per year).  In net present value terms, this amounts to a total contribution of $2,511,196 

(NPV), or 16.39% of the total increment created ($15,321,100).  

 

In addition to provisions for financial contribution, City staff looked to the above-referenced City plans, as 

adopted by the Common Council, to guide negotiations to secure additional provisions that benefit the City, 

and overall health and well-being of our downtown district.  Provisions of this nature include: 

• Pedestrian easement to allow for access between City Center East and West, and City Center Street 

and College Avenue (see Sec. 1.9). 

• Pedestrian orientation and overall aesthetics of first level entrance and tenant spaces adjacent to 

College Avenue, and the main entrance to City Center Street (see Sec. 1.6, 1.7, 1.8).  

• Prohibition of conversion of any housing units to Tourism Room Houses (aka VRBOs, see Sec. 1.10) 

M E M O R A N D U M 

 

 
“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 



- 2 - 

Staff Recommendation:  

 

The Development Agreement between the City of Appleton and Fox Commons Properties, LLC BE 

APPROVED. 

 

cc: Jeri Ohman, Finance Director 

 Chris Behrens, City Attorney 



 

__________________________________________ 
  Fox Commons Properties, LLC – City of Appleton 
  Development Agreement 
  Page | 1 

TAX INCREMENT DISTRICT NO. 11 
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

THIS DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is dated as of the ____ day of 
_____________________, 2023, (“Effective Date”) by and among Fox Commons Properties, 
LLC, a Delaware limited liability company qualified to do business in the State of Wisconsin 
(“Developer”) and the City of Appleton, a Wisconsin municipal corporation (the “City”). 

RECITALS 

Developer and the City acknowledge the following: 

A. Developer or an affiliate thereof, owns or will acquire the real property located at 
10 East College Avenue (Parcel 31‐2-0290-01) Appleton, Wisconsin more particularly described 
in Exhibit A, attached hereto (collectively the “Property”). 

B. The Property is located within the City in Tax Increment District #11 (the “District”) 
which was created in 2017 pursuant to Section 66.1105, Wis. Stats. along with a plan for the 
redevelopment of the District (the “District Plan”) that provides for, among other things, the 
financial assistance set forth in this Agreement. 

C. The City currently leases approximately 6,344 square feet of space in the Property 
pursuant to a Lease dated on or about February 26, 2001, by and between TAM, LLC, (as 
landlord) and the City (as tenant), as amended and assigned (the “Dance Studio Lease”.) 

D. Developer has proposed improvements to the Property to create a mixed-use 
development that includes healthcare facilities, housing and a retail space that will serve as an 
active downtown destination and community hub (collectively the “Project”) a portion of which will 
include two condominium units (Unit 1 and Unit 2). 

E. The City has determined that the Project will spur economic development, expand 
the City’s tax base and create new jobs; that such financial assistance is a Project Cost under the 
Tax Incremental Law; that the amount of financial assistance provided pursuant to this Agreement 
is the amount necessary to induce development of the Project; and, that the Project will not 
proceed without the financial assistance set forth in this Agreement. 

F. Subject to obtaining financial assistance as set forth herein, Developer intends to 
undertake a redevelopment of the Property that will increase the value of the Property and provide 
other tangible benefits to the surrounding neighborhoods and to the City as a whole, consistent 
with the District Plan.  The City finds that this redevelopment of the Property and the fulfillment, 
generally, of the terms and conditions of this Agreement are in the vital and best interests of the 
City and its residents and serves a public purpose in accordance with state and local law. 

F. The City, pursuant to Common Council Action dated June 7, 2023 has approved 
this Agreement and authorized the execution of this Agreement by the proper City officers on the 
City’s behalf. 

G. The Developer has approved this Agreement and authorized the appropriate 
officers to execute this Agreement on the Developer’s behalf. 



 

_________________________________________ 
  Fox Commons Properties, LLC – City of Appleton 
  Development Agreement 
  Page | 2 

H. The base value of the Property for purposes of this Agreement, including 
calculating increment generated by the Project, is One Million Nine Hundred Seventy-Eight 
Thousand Nine Hundred and no/100 Dollars ($1,978,900.00).  The Developer estimates the 
project will create up to an additional Fifteen Million Three Hundred Twenty-One Thousand One 
Hundred Dollars ($15,321,100) in incremental value. 

I. All terms that are capitalized but not defined in this Agreement and that are defined 
under the Tax Increment Law shall have the definitions assigned to such terms by the Tax 
Increment Law. 

AGREEMENT 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the Recitals and the promises and undertakings 
set forth herein, which are incorporated into this Agreement by reference, the Parties mutually 
agree and covenant as follows: 

ARTICLE I 
UNDERTAKINGS OF THE DEVELOPER 

1.1 Developer and City acknowledge that several of the specific undertakings of the 
Parties may require approvals from directors, boards or the Common Council, as applicable. The 
City and Developer’s obligations under this Agreement are conditioned upon the obtaining of all 
such approvals in the manner required by law. The Parties cannot assure that all such approvals 
will be obtained; however, they agree to use their best good faith efforts to obtain them on a timely 
basis. 

1.2 Despite anything herein to the contrary, Developer’s performance under this 
Agreement is subject to, and contingent upon, Developer purchasing the Property and obtaining 
commitments for construction financing for the Project on terms and conditions satisfactory to 
Developer. 

1.3 Developer’s Project shall include improvements to, and development of, the 
Property as set forth in Exhibit B that will result in an increase in the Property’s assessed value.  
All aspects of the Project shall be in accordance with all applicable City zoning and building codes, 
ordinances and regulations. 

1.4 Project Costs shall include, without limitation, costs incurred after approval of this 
agreement for the construction of improvements (including infrastructure improvements), 
environmental remediation costs, demolition, interior remodeling and development of the project.  

1.5 Developer warrants and represents to the City that but for the assistance provided 
by the City under Article II, herein, Developer would not be able to proceed with the Project. 

1.6 The City desires to promote the Property’s pedestrian access and preserve the 
pattern of storefront entrances that currently exist on College Avenue frontage; however, as of 
the Effective Date, the Parties acknowledge the tenant composition of the Project is not yet 
finalized. Thus, the Project’s actual number of storefront entrances that currently exist on College 
Avenue may differ from the Property’s pattern of storefront entrances prior to the Effective Date. 
Even so, Developer shall provide pedestrian access along College Avenue while still accounting 
for the practical constraints of the development process and the tenant composition of the Project. 



 

_________________________________________ 
  Fox Commons Properties, LLC – City of Appleton 
  Development Agreement 
  Page | 3 

Therefore, Developer shall require ground floor tenants with storefront on College Avenue to have 
a primary entrance onto the College Avenue frontage. 

1.7 Developer shall require all Project ground floor tenant spaces / units along College 
Avenue have primary customer entrances and transparent facades on College Avenue.  To 
preserve a pattern of storefronts with frequent openings to the sidewalk, the Project shall maintain 
a minimum of four (4) separate entrances along the College Avenue frontage.  The main entrance 
serving the north-south connection through the building does not count as one of the four (4) 
required entrances.  Along the College Avenue frontage, the building facade of each ground floor 
tenant space / unit must contain at least fifty percent (50%) glazed elements (e.g., transparent 
windows and doors) from sidewalk grade to ten (10) feet above the sidewalk. 

1.8 At the north and south sides of the Project, main entrances shall be established to 
strengthen and facilitate pedestrian circulation through the Project (from Oneida Street to College 
Avenue).  These main entrances shall generally align with the existing and vacated Oneida Street 
corridor, with at least two (2) sets of ground floor double doors provided on each side (north and 
south).  Within the scope of Developer’s design, the Project’s facade shall provide visual cues to 
encourage pedestrian access, including wall treatment in the form of signage, graphic art, lighting, 
and transparent materials. 

1.9 Consistent with the Parties’ goal to improve pedestrian accessibility when moving 
east/west through the Property as well as promoting general pedestrian flow to and through 
downtown consistent with the City’s Comprehensive Plan and College North Neighborhood Plan 
(hereafter the “plans”):  

1.9.1 Developer will use good faith, commercially reasonable efforts to, and to 
cause the owners of the tract to the west of the Project (“City Center West”) and to the 
east of the Project (“City Center East”) to agree to, amend the existing easement 
agreement recorded as Doc. 1065031 and recorded January 18, 1993 with the Register 
of Deeds, or enter a new easement agreement between owners of City Center East, City 
Center West and the Property to replace such existing easement agreement, with 
substantially the same rights, establishing east/west access between the three properties 
as well as north/south access between City Center Street and College Avenue consistent 
with the intent of the plans. 

1.9.2 The above referenced easement shall encompass all pedestrian corridors 
which are general common elements of the condominium comprising the Project, as the 
same may be relocated from time to time, which are necessary for east/west and 
north/south pedestrian passage to and from City Center East, City Center West, the 
Project, and City Center Street and College Avenue (the “Pedestrian Access Easement”).  
The areas subject to the Pedestrian Access Easement shall be available for the tenants, 
guests, customers, and invitees of the Project, City Center West, and City Center East 
from 8:00 am until 5:00 pm Monday through Saturday, provided that such areas may be 
restricted or closed up to seven (7) times per month for private events at the Project.  For 
avoidance of doubt, the Pedestrian Access Easement grant shall not be deemed a public 
dedication.   

1.9.3 Between 5:00 pm and 8:00 am Sunday through Saturday and between 8:00 
am and 5:00 pm on Sundays, authorized employees, tenants and the like of City Center 
East and City Center West shall have secured access to the Pedestrian Access Easement 
to enable travel to and from City Center East and West through the Project. 



 

_________________________________________ 
  Fox Commons Properties, LLC – City of Appleton 
  Development Agreement 
  Page | 4 

1.9.4 The Pedestrian Access Easement boundaries shall substantially conform 
to the depiction in Exhibit C accounting for reasonable variations to the boundaries as the 
Project’s development process is finalized or as may be modified from time to time by 
Project’s owner, so long as reasonable means of north/south and east/west access as 
noted in Section 1.9.2 is provided. 

1.10 Developer agrees that no Project housing/residential units shall be used as a 
“Tourist Rooming House,” (e.g., AirBNB, VRBO, etc.) as defined in Sec. 97.01(15k), Wis. Stats. 
for the duration of the Agreement and Developer shall implement any necessary covenants and/or 
restrictions to carry out the intent of this section.  

ARTICLE II 
UNDERTAKINGS OF THE CITY 

2.1 As a condition precedent to the City appropriating any funds under this Agreement, 
the City shall have entered into a termination agreement (“Lease Termination Agreement”) for 
that certain Dance Studio Lease. To induce the City to enter the Lease Termination Agreement 
and, simultaneously with the execution thereof, Developer shall enter into an agreement with the 
City compensating the City for its early termination of the Dance Studio Lease (“Relocation 
Agreement”), on terms and conditions to be set forth in the Relocation Agreement. 

2.2 The City shall appropriate sufficient funds for the performance of the City’s 
obligations under this Agreement. 

2.3 City shall cooperate with Developer throughout the Project and shall promptly 
review and/or process all submissions and applications in accordance with applicable City 
ordinances. 

2.4 Subject to all of the terms, covenants and conditions of this Agreement and 
applicable provisions of law, and as an inducement by the City to Developer to carry out the 
Project, upon completion of the Project (which shall be defined as issuance of a Certificate of Use 
and Occupancy for all floors, including all common spaces, of the Project and, for avoidance of 
doubt, it is understood that said certificate may be issued with some tenant space being 
unoccupied, in “white box” finished status, and/or subject to final finishing per tenant requirements 
(hereafter “completion”)) the City will provide payments to Developer solely from future Tax 
Increments (derived from both real and personal property) to assist with Developer’s Project 
Costs. The City’s total payment of Tax Increment Revenue to the Developer shall not exceed Four 
Million Three Hundred Fifty-Seven Thousand Five Hundred Fifty Dollars ($4,357,550). 

The Contribution will be paid to Developer as follows: 

2.4.1 As the sole source for payment of the Contribution, the City agrees to pay 
the Developer an amount equal to ninety percent (90%) of the Tax Increment Revenue 
attributable to, and actually received from, the Property during the calendar year. 

2.4.2 Payments under this Agreement shall be due in annual installments on 
August 15 of the calendar year following the first tax year after completion of the Project 
and continuing on each August 15 thereafter for a period of time described in Section 4.2. 



 

_________________________________________ 
  Fox Commons Properties, LLC – City of Appleton 
  Development Agreement 
  Page | 5 

2.4.3 The Contribution shall be a special and limited obligation of the City and 
not a general obligation.  The City may prepay the Contribution, in its sole discretion, at 
any time, with no prepayment penalty. 

2.5 This Agreement fully evidences the City’s obligation to pay the Contribution.  No 
separate instrument will be prepared to evidence the City’s obligation to pay the Contribution.  
The Contribution shall not be included in the computation of the City’s statutory debt limitation 
because the Contribution is limited and conditional and no taxes will be levied or pledged for its 
payment.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to change the nature of the City’s obligation 
from a limited and conditional obligation to a general obligation. 

2.6 The City covenants to Developer that until the Contribution has been paid in full, 
the City shall not close the District prior to its statutory expiration date. 

2.7 The City shall, upon Developer’s request, provide to Developer an accounting of 
the status of the District including, but not limited to, the outstanding principal balance of the 
Contribution and annual Tax Increments received from the District. 

2.8 Developer hereby acknowledges that, as a result of the special and limited nature 
of the City’s obligation to pay the Contribution, Developer’s recovery of the full amount of the 
Contribution depends on factors including, but not limited to, future mill rates, changes in the 
assessed value of the Property, the failure of the Property to generate the Tax Increments at the 
rate expected by Developer, reduction in Tax Increments caused by revenue‐sharing, changes in 
the Tax Increment Law, and other factors beyond the City’s and/or Developer’s control. 

2.9 The City shall grant Developer an option to purchase up to 280 yearly parking 
passes in the City-owned parking ramps on an annual basis, to be exercised and paid in full by 
December 1 of the calendar year prior.  Annual rate paid shall be the rate established for City 
parking passes for the year of use, according to the city fee schedule.  During the first calendar 
year of this Agreement, if Developer’s single bulk purchase of parking passes occurs after July 1, 
Developer shall pay a pro-rated cost based upon the balance of the calendar year remaining after 
July 1. Thereafter, the parking pass rate shall not be prorated. This right to annually purchase up 
to 280 parking passes is not transferrable or assignable. 

2.10 Upon request of the Developer, the City shall provide certified copies of resolutions 
and/or minute approvals from directors, boards or the Common Council as applicable. 

ARTICLE III 
PAYMENT OF TAXES 

3.1 As long as the District is in existence, the Property and all buildings and 
improvements thereon shall be owned and taxable for real estate tax and special assessment 
purposes with the exception of up to 35,000 square feet of condominium space Unit 2 to be 
occupied by tax exempt healthcare entity as referred to in Recital C provided Unit 2 is continuously 
occupied by the original tax-exempt healthcare entity that first occupies it: and, this exception 
shall expire at such time the original tax-exempt healthcare entity sells, transfers or otherwise 
ceases to occupy Unit 2. The City may waive any or all of the restrictions upon execution of a 
payment in lieu of taxes (PILOT) agreement on a form acceptable to the City. 

3.2 Subject to Section 3.1 and unless disputed in good faith by Developer (or its 
successors or assigns), throughout the duration of this Agreement, all ad valorem property taxes 



 

_________________________________________ 
  Fox Commons Properties, LLC – City of Appleton 
  Development Agreement 
  Page | 6 

properly assessed against the Property will be paid timely and in full. For avoidance of doubt, 
nothing in this section shall be construed to limit Developer’s rights to contest any ad valorem 
property taxes assessed against the Property. 

3.3 In the event that any property owned by Developer within the District becomes 
exempt from ad valorem property taxes during the life of the District, then for the remaining life of 
the District, the Developer will make (or cause to be made) annual payments in lieu of taxes in 
amounts equal to what the ad valorem property taxes would have been for such other property 
had it not been exempt. This provision shall not apply to up to 35,000 square feet of Unit 2 for the 
duration of time Unit 2 is occupied by the tax-exempt healthcare entity that occupies Unit 2 after 
completion as described in Sec. 2.4 of this Agreement.  If the Developer conveys the Property 
within the District to any party (related or unrelated), the terms of such sale shall impose as a 
covenant upon all successor owners of the property the foregoing obligation for payments in lieu 
of taxes during the life of the District.  The City shall be a beneficiary of such covenant and entitled 
to enforce same against the successor owners. 

ARTICLE IV 
CONDITIONS TO PAYMENT; TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT 

4.1 The City shall have no obligation to pay any portion of the Contribution to 
Developer unless and until all of the following conditions shall have been met: 

4.1.1 The Project’s completion on or before December 31, 2025. 

4.1.2 The Property’s assessed value is no less than Seventeen Million Three 
Hundred Thousand Dollars ($17,300,000). 

4.1.3 The conditions herein are subject to reasonable extensions, not to exceed 
six (6) months in each instance, for Force Majeure which shall include, but not be limited 
to, any delays caused by pandemic or other acts beyond the reasonable control of the 
Developer. Such extensions shall be by mutual written agreement and, in considering any 
requested extension, the City and Developer agree that each will act in good faith, 
cooperate in expeditious and timely approvals, and said extensions shall not be 
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed by City. 

4.2 Subject to Section 4.1.3 this Agreement, and the Parties obligations under this 
Agreement, shall terminate when any of the following shall have occurred: 

4.2.1 The conditions in Section 4.1 are not met.  

4.2.2 The Contribution is paid in full or August 15, 2042 (the “End Date”), 
whichever occurs first. The End Date shall be subject to extension commensurate with 
any extension granted pursuant to Sec. 4.1.3 provided the End Date shall not extend 
beyond August 15, 2043. 

ARTICLE V 
CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

5.1 No member, officer or employee of the City, during his/her tenure or for one year 
thereafter, will have or shall have had any interest, direct or indirect, in this Agreement or any 
proceeds thereof. 



 

_________________________________________ 
  Fox Commons Properties, LLC – City of Appleton 
  Development Agreement 
  Page | 7 

ARTICLE VI 
WRITTEN NOTICES 

6.1 Any written notice required under this Agreement shall be sent to the following 
individuals: 

FOR THE CITY: 
 

City of Appleton 
Community and Economic Development Department 
100 North Appleton Street 
Appleton, WI 54911‐4799 
Attention:  Director 
 

With a copy to: 
 
City of Appleton 
City Attorney’s Office 
100 North Appleton Street 
Appleton, WI 54911‐4799 
Attention:  City Attorney 
 
FOR DEVELOPER: 
 
Fox Commons Properties, LLC 
1100 N. Dr. Martin Luther King Jr. Drive 
Suite 610 
Milwaukee, WI 53203 
Attention: James R. Kleinfeldt 
 
 

ARTICLE VII 
ASSIGNMENT 

7.1 This Agreement shall inure the benefit of and bind the Parties hereto and its 
respective successors and assigns provided that Developer may not assign all or part of this 
Agreement without prior written consent of the city, unless such assignment is to an affiliate of 
Developer or purchaser of the Property, in which instance the Developer shall provide the City 
with written notice no less than 10 business days prior to said assignment. 

ARTICLE VIII 
NO PARTNERSHIP OR VENTURE 

8.1 Developer and its contractors or subcontractors shall be solely responsible for the 
completion of the Project.  Nothing contained in this Agreement shall create or effect any 
partnership, venture or relationship between the City and Developer or any contractor or 
subcontractor employed by Developer in the construction of the Project. 



 

_________________________________________ 
  Fox Commons Properties, LLC – City of Appleton 
  Development Agreement 
  Page | 8 

ARTICLE IX 
MISCELLANEOUS 

9.1 Under no circumstances shall any officer, official, director, member, manager, 
commissioner, agent, or employee of City or Developer have any personal liability arising out of 
this Agreement, and no party shall seek or claim any such personal liability. 

9.2 The laws of the State of Wisconsin shall govern this Agreement. 

9.3 This Agreement may be signed in any number of counterparts with the same effect 
as if the signatures thereto and hereto were upon the same instrument. 

9.4 No modification, alteration, or amendment of this Agreement shall be binding upon 
any party until such modification, alteration, or amendment is reduced to writing and executed by 
all Parties to this Agreement. 

9.5 Any captions or headings in this Agreement are for convenience only and in no 
way define, limit, or describe the scope or intent of any of the provisions of this Agreement. 

9.6 If any provisions of this Agreement shall be held or deemed to be inoperative or 
unenforceable as applied in any particular case in any jurisdiction because it conflicts with any 
other provision or provisions of this Agreement or any constitution or statute or rule of public 
policy, or for any other reason, then such circumstances shall not have the effect of rendering the 
provision in question inoperative or unenforceable in any other case or circumstance, or of 
rendering any other provision or provisions herein contained invalid, inoperative, or unenforceable 
to any extent whatever.  To the maximum extent possible, this Agreement shall be construed in 
a manner consistent with the powers of the City, including but not limited to, the City's powers 
under the Blight Elimination and Slum Clearance Law and the Tax Increment Law, to achieve its 
intended purpose.  Reference is made to Section 66.1333(17) of the Wisconsin Statutes and 
Chapter 105, Laws of 1975 § 4, which provide that the Blight Elimination and Slum Clearance 
Law and the Tax Increment Law should be construed liberally to effectuate their purposes. 

9.7 The Parties make no warranties or representations except as expressly set forth 
herein. 

[Signatures on following pages] 



 

__________________________________________ 
  Fox Commons Properties, LLC – City of Appleton 
  Development Agreement 
  Page | 9 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement on the day and year 
first above written. 

CITY OF APPLETON: 
 
 
 
By:   
 Jacob A. Woodford, Mayor 
 
 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
By:   
 Kami L. Lynch, City Clerk 
 
 
STATE OF WISCONSIN ) 
    : ss. 
OUTAGAMIE COUNTY ) 
 

Personally came before me this ____ day of _________________, 2023, Jacob A. 
Woodford, Mayor and Kami L. Lynch, City Clerk, of the City of Appleton respectively, to me known 
to be the persons who executed the foregoing instrument and acknowledged the same in the 
capacity and for the purposes therein intended. 

 
   
Printed Name:    
Notary Public, State of Wisconsin 
My commission is/expires:    

 
PROVISION HAS BEEN MADE TO PAY FOR  
OBLIGATIONS INCURRED PURSUANT TO  
THIS AGREEMENT: 
 
 
   
Jeri Ohman, Finance Director 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
   
Christopher R. Behrens, City Attorney 
Dated: May 17, 2023 
By:  Christopher R. Behrens 
City Law A23-0747 



 

_________________________________________ 
  Fox Commons Properties, LLC – City of Appleton 
  Development Agreement 
  Page | 10 

 
DEVELOPER: 
 
Fox Commons Properties LLC 
 
 
 
By:   
      James R. Kleinfeldt, Manager 
 
 
 
 

STATE OF WISCONSIN ) 
    : ss. 
OUTAGAMIE COUNTY ) 
 

Personally came, before me this ____ day of __________________, 2023, James R. 
Kleinfeldt, Manager, to me known to be the persons who executed the foregoing instrument and 
acknowledged the same in the capacity and for the purposes therein intended. 

 

   
Printed Name:    
Notary Public, State of Wisconsin 
My commission is/expires:    

 
 

  



 

_________________________________________ 
  Fox Commons Properties, LLC – City of Appleton 
  Development Agreement 
  Page | 11 

SCHEDULE OF EXHIBITS 

A. Legal Description of Property 
 
 
B. Proposed Improvements 
 
 
C. Easement 

 

  



 

_________________________________________ 
  Fox Commons Properties, LLC – City of Appleton 
  Development Agreement 
  Page | 12 

EXHIBIT A 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPERTY 

 
Tax Key No. 31- 2029001 
 
ALL OF LOT 6 AND PART OF LOT 5 OF BLOCK 27, AND ALL OF LOT 7 AND PART OF LOTS 
1, 2, 3, 6 AND 8 OF BLOCK 28 OF THE APPLETON PLAT, AND PART OF VACATED ONEIDA 
STREET LYING BETWEEN BLOCKS 27 AND 28, AND PART OF LOT 1 OF CERTIFIED 
SURVEY MAP NO. 299 AS RECORDED IN VOLUME 2 OF CERTIFIED SURVEY MAPS, ON 
PAGE 299, AS DOCUMENT NO. 821847, ALL BEING IN THE CITY OF APPLETON, 
OUTAGAMIE COUNTY, WISCONSIN, ACCORDING TO THE RECORDED ASSESSOR'S MAP 
OF SAID CITY, MORE FULLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 
 
BEGINNING AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAID BLOCK 28, ALSO BEING THE POINT 
OF INTERSECTION OF THE NORTH LINE OF COLLEGE AVENUE WITH THE EAST LINE OF 
VACATED ONEIDA STREET; THENCE SOUTH 89° 56' 34" WEST ALONG THE NORTH LINE 
OF COLLEGE AVENUE EXTENDED AND THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID BLOCK 27, 223.16 
FEET; THENCE NORTH 00° 01' 21" WEST, 140.11 Feet TO THE SOUTH LINE OF CITY 
CENTER STREET; THENCE NORTH 89° 56' 34" EAST, ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE OF CITY 
CENTER STREET, 163.16 FEET TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID LOT 6 OF BLOCK 
27; THENCE NORTH 65° 11' 47" EAST, 66.10 FEET TO THE WEST LINE OF SAID BLOCK 28; 
THENCE NORTH 00° 01' 21" WEST ALONG SAID WEST LINE, 67.45 Feet; THENCE NORTH 
89° 56' 34" EAST, 176.26 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 00° 01' 21" EAST, 60.91 Feet; THENCE 
SOUTH 89° 56' 34" WEST, 30.10 Feet; THENCE SOUTH 00° 01' 21" EAST, 17.00 FEET; 
THENCE NORTH 89° 56' 34" EAST, 12.17 Feet; THENCE SOUTH 00° 01' 21" EAST, 157.31 
Feet TO SAID NORTH LINE OF COLLEGE AVENUE; THENCE SOUTH 89° 56' 34" WEST 
ALONG SAID NORTH LINE, 120.83 Feet; THENCE NORTH 00° 01' 21" WEST, 80.45 FEET; 
THENCE SOUTH 89° 56' 34" WEST, 37.50 FEET TO SAID WEST LINE OF BLOCK 28; THENCE 
SOUTH 00° 01' 21" EAST ALONG SAID WEST LINE, 80.45 FEET TO THE POINT OF 
BEGINNING. 
  



 

_________________________________________ 
  Fox Commons Properties, LLC – City of Appleton 
  Development Agreement 
  Page | 13 

EXHIBIT B 
 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS 
 

The project budget is $33,622,572.67 and is depicted as follows (with the understanding that 
depicted plans are conceptual at the time of this agreement and subject to modification within 
the scope and spirit of the project): 

 
 

  



 

_________________________________________ 
  Fox Commons Properties, LLC – City of Appleton 
  Development Agreement 
  Page | 14 

EXHIBIT B 
 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
 
 
  



 

_________________________________________ 
  Fox Commons Properties, LLC – City of Appleton 
  Development Agreement 
  Page | 15 

EXHIBIT C – EASEMENT 
 

FOX COMMONS PASSAGES WITH CORRESPONDING EASEMENT AREA 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  



 

_________________________________________ 
  Fox Commons Properties, LLC – City of Appleton 
  Development Agreement 
  Page | 16 

EXHIBIT C – EASEMENT 
 

FOX COMMONS PASSAGES WITH CORRESPONDING EASEMENT AREA (CONTINUED) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Page 1 of 6 

 
CITY OF APPLETON  

PERSONNEL POLICIES 

 
TITLE: 

SALARY ADMINISTRATION 
 
ISSUE DATE: 
 

 
LAST UPDATE: 
October 2022 

 
SECTION: 
Human Resources 

 
POLICY SOURCE:  
Human Resources Department 

 AUDIENCE: 

All regular full and part-time employees 
covered by the Non-represented 
compensation plan. 
Excludes represented employees. 

 
TOTAL PAGES: 6 
 

 
Reviewed by Legal Services 
Date:  

 
Committee Approval Date:  
 

 
Council Approval Date: 
11/2/22 
 

 
I. PURPOSE 

To outline the guidelines utilized for administration of the compensation plan. 
                            

II. POLICY 

It is the policy of the City of Appleton to provide competitive compensation to attract and retain 
competent staff and to encourage and reward performance within the financial resources available.   
 

III. DISCUSSION 

The City of Appleton is committed to rewarding team members in a fair and consistent manner, we offer 
compensation and rewards that support equity and align with our diversity, equity, and inclusion values.  
We aim to attract and retain employees to contribute to the success of the organization.    This policy is 
subject to change with approval of the Common Council.  The Human Resources Director shall be 
responsible for the administration of the compensation policy.   
 
DEFINITIONS 
A. Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA):  A federal act that sets minimum wage, overtime pay, equal pay, 

record keeping and child labor standards for employees who are covered by the act and who are not 
exempt from specific provisions. An employee classified in the compensation plan as “Exempt” is 
not eligible for the overtime compensation provisions of FLSA. 
 

B.  Base Pay: An employee's initial rate of compensation, excluding extra lump sum compensation, 
shift differential etc.  An employee's base pay can be expressed as a base hourly rate of pay or as an 
annual salary. 

 
C. Position Analysis Questionnaire (PAQ): A job analysis that outlines the responsibilities and the 

requirements necessary to perform the functions of the position. The PAQ is utilized to evaluate the 
position responsibilities for allocation to the appropriate pay grade.   

 
 

D.  Compensation Plan: A schedule of pay ranges listing the job classifications and 
minimum/maximum rates.  All regular positions shall be placed in one of these ranges based on a 
PAQ and point factor job evaluation. 
 

E. Emergency:  For purposes of this policy, an emergency shall be defined as an unplanned, significant 



 

Page 2 of 6 

event that affects the operation, or service level of the department (as determined by the Department 
Director and/or the Mayor)  

 
F. Interim Assignment:  When an employee is assigned to a different position on a temporary basis, 

because of a vacancy.   
 

G. Non-base pay adjustment:  Pay adjustments generally in the form of a lump sum or other forms that 
do not increase the employee’s base pay. 

 
H.  Red-circled: The maintenance of an employee’s pay rate above the established range maximum.  An 

employee whose pay rate is at or above the range maximum may be eligible for a non-base 
performance adjustment.   

 
I. Midpoint:  The center of an open pay range.  The midpoint provides a reference point to measure 

progression within the pay range. 
 

 
IV. PROCEDURES 

A. DETERMINATION OF PAY RANGES 

The compensation plan shall be based on the principle of equal pay for equal work.  Pay ranges 
within the compensation plan shall be determined with regard to factors including, but not limited to: 
training and ability; level of work; physical demands; independence of actions; supervision 
exercised; experience required; human relations skills; working conditions or hazards and impact of 
errors; and prevailing rates of pay for similar jobs in public and private employment as determined 
by the City. 

 
B.       ENTRANCE PAY RATE     

                                          
The entrance pay rate shall be within 60% of the minimum of the pay range.  All appointments 
(including department heads) above the 60% must be authorized, in advance, by a majority of the 
Mayor, Human Resources Committee Chair and Human Resources Director.  

 
 

C. RECLASSIFICATION  
  

The Position Classification Review Process is the method for determining pay range assignment of 
new positions or reclassification actions involving substantial changes in the duties and 
responsibilities of an existing position or external market changes. 

(a) Classification or Reclassification Consideration 

A request for reclassification of a current position or the classification of a new position may be 
initiated by a department director, or by the Human Resource Director.  Requests for 
reclassifications may occur throughout the year as positions are created or become vacant.  
 
Reclassification consideration for existing positions requires that the employee and the department 
director document substantial changes in existing duties since the most recent review.  Duty changes 
may be from substantial, immediate reassignment of duties due to reorganization, or may be the 
result of a logical and gradual change of responsibilities over a period of time.   
 



 

Page 3 of 6 

To be considered for reclassification, changes should be stable and typically should have been in 
effect for at least six months preceding the reclassification request so that it is clear that the changes 
that exist are likely to remain for some period of time.  Reclassification will not be considered for 
temporary changes in duties. 

A request for classification or reclassification consideration must be in writing to the Human 
Resources Generalist.  The Human Resources Generalist will guide the appropriate process for a 
review. 

(b) Review of Requests 

Following internal review by the Human Resource Director, the Human Resource Generalist will 
submit the PAQ and any supporting documentation to the consultant for evaluation if the criteria for 
reclassification is met.  If the recalassification is appropriate, the consultant will recommend a grade 
assignment for the position.  The consultant may request further information. 

(c)  The Employer’s Response to the Consultant’s Recommendations 

The employee and the department director will be informed of the final decision in writing.  The 
effective date of any compensation changes will be based on the specific circumstance of the 
reclassification. 
 

D.   COMPENSATION PLAN COMPONENTS 

(a) Pay Plan Adjustment 
 

Pay Plan adjustments are typically made on an annual basis.  The Human Resources Director 
shall recommend such adjustments to the Mayor and Finance Director based on the general level 
of pay adjustments in the relevant job markets where the City competes.  These adjustments are 
also made in consideration of general changes in cost-of-living indices. 

 

The adjustment takes the form of an adjustment to pay plan with the goal of maintaining market 
competitiveness of the pay plan. 
 
No increase will be made to an employee’s pay as a result of a pay plan adjustment. 
 

(b) Merit increase  
 

The amount allocated for merit increase shall be established each year by the Mayor and 
included in the annual budget, subject to approval by the Common Council.  Merit increases will 
be awarded to all employees that meet or exceed their goals and departmental expectations. 

 
E.   PAY RATE ADJUSTMENTS 

The Human Resources Director and the applicable Department Director shall determine the pay 
status of an employee based on the following:                                                   

 (a)  Transfers - When an employee is transferred from one class to another with a common pay 
range, the employee shall continue to receive the same pay rate unless a different rate is deemed 
appropriate.  

 (b)  Promotion - When an employee is promoted from one class to another having a higher pay 
range, the employee shall receive an increase as deemed appropriate. For consideration of 
placement into the new pay range, such factors as the average value of overtime lost, average 



 

Page 4 of 6 

value of extra hours worked in a non-exempt capacity as well as other internal and external 
factors shall be considered.                  

 (c) Demotion - When an employee accepts a position in a lower pay grade for any reason, a rate of 
pay shall be determined. For consideration of placement into the new salary range, such factors 
as experience, qualification, length of service, average value of overtime lost and the level of pay 
similar to employees in the pay range shall be considered.                                   

 (d) Upward Re-Classification - When an employee’s position is reclassified into a higher pay grade, 
the reclassification shall be treated the same as a promotion under (b) above.  

 (e) Downward Re-Classification - When an employee’s position is reclassified into a lower pay 
grade, the reclassification shall be treated the same as (c.) above.  

 
 (f) Equity Adjustments 
 Equity adjustments are salary changes outside of the normal salary programs (as listed above) to       
remedy salary issues such as external pressure in high demand areas, internal salary                            
compression, and/or retention considerations. Equity adjustments may also be used when                   
additional duties are added. 
 

F.   MINIMUM AND MAXIMUM RATES                          

Generally, an employee shall be paid within the pay range of their position. Library substitute 
positions may only advance to the midpoint of the pay scale. 

An employee may be paid below the minimum of their pay range as the result of not receiving a pay 
adjustment due to their performance. 
 
An employee who receives a base pay adjustment cannot exceed the maximum of their pay range.  
An employee who is at the maximum of their pay range may be eligible for a lump sum payment as 
a method to recognize performance. 

 
      In the event of a reclassification, or re-evaluation of a pay range that results in an employee’s pay 

falling outside the maximum of the newly assigned pay range, such employee’s pay rate may be red-
circled. 

     

 G.  OVERTIME 

(a) Employees in the Compensation Plan who meet the exemption under the Fair Labor Standards 
Act shall be exempt from all premium pay provisions except as otherwise outlined in this policy.                        

(b) Employees who are required to work Sunday, not part of their regular schedule, shall receive 
double time pay.  Utility Department employees who work Sunday, as part of their regular 
schedule, shall receive double time pay. 

(c.) All non-represented non-exempt employees in the Compensation Plan shall be paid no less than 
the minimum compensation required pursuant to the FLSA, including overtime compensation on 
a time and one half basis, for all hours worked in excess of 40 hours per week subject to the 
following:  

1. Compensatory Time, Sick leave, PTO Sick, approved non-paid leave and FMLA 
non-paid leave hours shall not be counted as hours worked for purposes of 
computing overtime compensation; and, 

 
2. Scheduled City holiday hours, vacation, PTO , funeral leave, jury duty and 

approved paid FMLA leave (except PTO Sick, see #1 above) may be counted as 



 

Page 5 of 6 

hours worked for purposes of computing overtime compensation (except when 
employee is called to work, then see #3 below); and, 

 
3. Hours worked and paid at a Sunday or Holiday double time rate*, where the 

employee is also paid an additional call pay premium, shall not be counted as 
hours worked for purposes of computing overtime compensation. 

 

   *Holiday double time rate refer to Fringe Benefit Policy. 

 (c) Battalion Chiefs and Deputy Fire Chiefs who fill in for other Chief Officers, when overtime 
would otherwise be required, shall receive straight time pay for all such hours worked in addition 
to their regular bi-weekly rate.  Operations Battalion Chiefs who are required by the Chief to 
attend extended (generally more than four (4) hours) training on their off-duty time may be 
eligible for straight time pay for attendance at such training at the discretion of the Fire Chief.      

(d) Police Lieutenants and Captains will receive compensation at time and one half of the 
employee’s base hourly top senior sergeant rate when working beyond their normal schedule for 
Grants, Off-Duty Police Services, Avenue Detail, SWAT related incidents, major case 
investigations, transports, time in court, prisoner guard duty, and special events. 

(e) Overtime shall be approved in advance by the Department Director or supervisor and reviewed 
periodically by the Department Director.  Overtime shall be kept to a minimum and shall be 
utilized to relieve specific occasional peak workloads or emergencies.                                

  
 H. SHIFT PREMIUM 
  

Non-exempt employees shall be eligible for a $.50 shift premium added to their base pay if the 
employee is regularly scheduled (through shift selection or designated assignment) to work a 2nd 
or 3rd shift schedule (3rd or 4th shift schedule for Police). 

 
I. TELEPHONE CALL 
 

Non-exempt employees who are called by a supervisor on the telephone, outside of their 
regularly scheduled hours, to provide information related to the operation of the department shall 
be paid for the time actually spent on the telephone, but not less than one hour’s straight time.  
This does not apply to employees receiving the Stand-by Duty pay. 

 
J. EMERGENCY CALL-IN 
 

Non-exempt employees who have left the worksite or are in a paid leave status, and who are 
called to return to work outside of their regularly scheduled hours to handle emergency situations 
that could not be anticipated, will be eligible for a lump sum of  $100 as call-in pay. 

 
K. ASSIGNED SHIFT CHANGE   

 
(a) This applies to Utilities employees who operate on shifts. 

 
When a non-exempt employee is required to work outside their assigned shift the employee will 
be paid as follows: 

 



 

Page 6 of 6 

Employees notified for a change of assigned shift for a duration of more than one week and are 
given 48 hours or more notice shall be paid $1.00 per hour, added to their base pay, for all hours 
worked for the duration of the scheduled shift. 

 
Employees notified for a change of assigned shift for a duration of one week or less and are 
given 48 hours or more notice shall be paid $2.00 per hour, added to their base pay, for all hours 
worked for the duration of the scheduled shift. 

 
Employees notified for a change of assigned shift and are given less than a 48 hour notice shall 
be paid $50 per day for the first 48 hours and then the employee shall be paid pursuant to the 
above. 

 
The $1.00 and $2.00 premium pay shall be added to the employee’s regular base rate for 
purposes of calculating the overtime rate. 

 
(b) This applies to Department of Public Works employees who operate on shifts. 

 
When a non-exempt employee is required to work outside their assigned shift the employee will 
be paid as follows: 

 
Employees notified for a change of assigned shift shall be paid $50 per day. 

                                       
L. STAND-BY DUTY  
 

Employees who are required by their department director to be on stand-by duty (required to 
remain within a one (1) hour response area, accessible by phone or pager, etc.) shall receive one 
hour’s pay for each day of stand-by and (2) two hours if on the actual holiday (does not include 
the observed holiday).  

 
All employees required to be on stand-by must remain physically fit and ready for duty and must 
continue to abide by City policies (i.e., Drug-Free Workplace).  

  
M.   CALL DUTY - EMERGENCY RESPONSE (Excludes Directors, Deputy Directors, Assistant 

Police Chief, Police Captains, and Police Lieutenants) 
 

Any exempt employee, not on Stand By Duty, who is required to report to duty for emergency 
operations (e.g. snowplowing, water main breaks, facilities and grounds and technology issues, 
storms & other disasters) may be eligible for additional compensation in the form of a bonus as 
outlined below: 

 
 If the employee reports for work and works less than three (3) hours, the employee shall be entitled 

to $75.00 for each report. 
 If the employee reports for work and works between 3-5 hours, the employee shall be entitled to 

$200.00 for each report. 
 If the employee reports for work and works between 5-8 hours, the employee shall be entitled to 

$400.00 for each report 
 If the employee reports for work and works more than 8 hours, the employee shall be entitled to 

$500.00 for each report 


	0000_Agenda
	0001_1_CC Minutes 5-17-23
	0003_1_Pride Month Proclamation
	0003_2_CPR AED Awareness Week Proclamation
	0003_3_Juneteenth Celebration Day Proclamation
	0003_4_Gun Violence Awareness Day Proclamation
	0003_5_Refugee Day Proclamation
	0004_1_Three Party Design Engineering Services Contract_COA_WisDOT_Ayres_49842474-1400045926-2
	0005_1_Local Bridge Inspection Agreement - City of Appleton
	0006_1_2023.05.16_1619 Pauline Terrace Occupancy Permit
	1619 Pauline Staff memo.pdf
	DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS
	100 North Appleton Street



	0007_1_2023.05.17_MudandPrints_Permit to Occupy
	0008_1_ADI Ltr to City re Permit to Occupy Downtown Creates Sidewalk Sale 5.18.23
	0009_1_ADI Ltr to City re Permit to Occupy MOM Sidewalk Sales 5.18.23
	0010_1_2023.05.18_1843 W Reeve Street Permanent Street Occupancy Permit
	0011_1_Smosh Fest Denial Recommendation Letter 05.18.23
	0011_2_Smosh Fest Application
	0012_1_Nicole Burleson SL
	0013_1_Fish Cave SL
	0014_1_Pet Supplies Plus SL
	0015_1_Just Pets SL
	0016_1_Rookies Sports Bar SL
	0017_1_2023-24 Alcohol License Renewals-2nd set
	0018_1_2023-2024 Additional Cigarette Renewals
	0019_1_Amusement Device renewals 2023-24
	0020_1_StaffReport_2701NOneidaSt_SUP_For5-24-23
	Sheets
	AC01 - CONCEPTUAL EXISTING/ DEMO PLAN
	AC02 - CONCEPTUAL PLAN
	AC03 - CONCEPTUAL SECTION


	0021_1_StaffReport_2811ENewberrySt_SUP_For5-24-23
	0022_1_StaffReport_VillasatMeadePond_FinalPlat_For5-24-23
	sheet 3
	sheet 4
	sheet 5
	sheet 6
	sheet 7
	sheet 8

	0023_1_2023 HazMat Vehicle
	0024_1_2023 AWWTP Masonry Repairs Project
	0025_1_2023 Short Term Funding
	0026_1_FoxCommons_MemoToCEDC_05242023_Final
	0026_2_0747 - FOX COMMONS DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT - 05-23-2023 - edit shown
	0027_1_Salary Administration Policy 2023 SB


{ "type": "Document", "isBackSide": false }


{ "type": "Document", "isBackSide": false }



